
Please contact Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer
Tel:  01270 686472
E-Mail: paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

Cabinet
Agenda

Date: Tuesday, 11th September, 2018
Time: 2.00 pm
Venue: Committee Suite 1, 2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 

Sandbach CW11 1HZ

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. Part 
2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons indicated on 
the agenda and in the report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision-making meetings are 
audio recorded and the recordings are uploaded to the Council’s website.

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda.

3. Public Speaking Time/Open Session  

In accordance with paragraph 3.33 of the Cabinet Procedure Rules, a period of 10 
minutes is allocated for members of the public to address the meeting on any matter 
relevant to the work of the Cabinet. Individual members of the public may speak for 
up to 5 minutes but the Chairman or person presiding will decide how the period of 
time allocated for public speaking will be apportioned where there are a number of 
speakers. Members of the public are not required to give notice to use this facility. 
However, as a matter of courtesy, a period of 24 hours’ notice is encouraged.

Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at 
least three clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question with 
that notice. This will enable an informed answer to be given.

mailto:paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk


4. Questions to Cabinet Members  

A period of 20 minutes is allocated for questions to be put to Cabinet Members by 
members of the Council. Notice of questions need not be given in advance of the 
meeting. Questions must relate to the powers, duties or responsibilities of the 
Cabinet. Questions put to Cabinet Members must relate to their portfolio 
responsibilities.

The Leader will determine how Cabinet question time should be allocated where 
there are a number of Members wishing to ask questions. Where a question relates to 
a matter which appears on the agenda, the Leader may allow the question to be 
asked at the beginning of consideration of that item.

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 5 - 12)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 10th July 2018.

6. SEND Reforms Task and Finish Group - Final Report  (Pages 13 - 32)

To receive the final report of the SEND Reforms Task and Finish Group.

7. Garden Village at Handforth - Delivery Strategy  (Pages 33 - 44)

To seek approval to expedite development at The Garden Village at Handforth.

8. Draft Proposed Local and Sub-Regional Arrangements for Cheshire East in 
Relation to the Transition from Local Safeguarding Children's Boards to 
Safeguarding Partners  (Pages 45 - 58)

To consider a report setting out proposed changes for Cheshire East’s Local 
Safeguarding Children Board.

9. European Social Fund Sub-Regional Bid for Intensive Supported Employment 
Provision  (Pages 59 - 64)

To seek authority to submit an application for funding for intensive supported 
employment provision.

10. Public Health England: Innovation Fund for Children of Alcohol Dependent 
Parents  (Pages 65 - 72)

To seek approval for the submission of a bid to the Public Health England 
Innovation fund for Children of Alcohol Dependent Parents.

11. Re-Procurement of Food Contracts for Fresh Produce and Multi-temperature 
Food (i.e. Frozen and Grocery Products)  (Pages 73 - 78)

To seek approval to progress the re-tendering processes for the re-procurement of 
Food Contracts for Fresh Produce and Multi-temperature Food.

12. Treasury Management Annual Report 2017/18  (Pages 79 - 100)

To receive the Treasury Management Annual Report for 2017/18.

THERE ARE NO PART 2 ITEMS







CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet 
held on Tuesday, 10th July, 2018 at Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, 

Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ

PRESENT

Councillor Rachel Bailey (Chairman)
Councillor L Wardlaw (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors A Arnold, J Clowes, JP Findlow and J Saunders

Councillors in Attenance
Councillors Rhoda Bailey, G Baxendale, S Corcoran, I Faseyi, R Fletcher, 
M Grant, L Jeuda, D Marren, B Moran, B Walmsley and G Williams

Officers in Attendance
Frank Jordan, Executive Director of Place/Acting Deputy Chief Executive
Mark Palethorpe, Acting Executive Director of People
Linda Couchman, Acting Strategic Director Adult Social Care & Health
Alex Thompson, Head of Finance and Performance
Sara Barker, Head of Strategic HR
Suzanne Antrobus, Team Leader Legal Services
Rachel Graves, Democratic Service Officer

LEADER’S ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Leader announced that Mike Suarez, Chief Executive, had forwarded his 
resignation, which had been accepted.  She went on to say that there would 
be no questions or further debate on this matter.

The Leader asked all to join her in wishing the England football team well for 
their semi-final match against Croatia.

The Leader welcomed all to the meeting and in particular a young student, 
who was shadowing Democratic Services Officers to see how the Council 
worked and operated. 

16 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies were received from Councillors P Bates and D Stockton.

17 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

In the interests of openness, Councillor JP Findlow declared, in relation to 
Items 9 and 14, that he was the Council’s nomination to the Board of the 
Peaks and Plains Housing Trust. 



18 PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION 

Jane Smith asked if schools in Cheshire East could provide a plant based 
option at meal times and work towards providing a wholly plant based 
menu one day a week.  The Portfolio Holder for Children and Families 
responded by saying that 75% of dishes provided were freshly prepared 
from unprocessed ingredients and that a vegetarian option was provided 
daily.  A vegan dish could be provided if requested by parents. 

Sue Helliwell referred to the disposal of public open space in Alsager, 
which was advertised by the Council in January 2014 and asked if the land 
disposal took place and was the land large enough to use as a burial 
ground.   The Portfolio Holder for Housing, Planning and Regeneration 
responded that disposal of the public open space related to the grant of a 
lease of more than 7 years of the Alsager Leisure Centre site and following 
the disposal process the land had been leased to the Everybody Sport & 
Recreation Trust to facilitate the future management of leisure facilities for 
local residents.

Caroline Whitley spoke on the Early Help and Community Grants Scheme 
and asked that consideration be given to including the payment of 
volunteers’ costs and expenses.  The Leader responded that this would be 
considered when the agenda item was debated.

Sylvia Dykes spoke on the findings of the Cemeteries Strategy in relation 
to Alsager and stated that there had been opportunities in the last ten 
years of land that could have been used for burials but this had been 
ignored and that the two alternatives options provided would involve 
extreme journeys to reach.  She asked if projected population figures and 
age demographics had been included in preparing the strategy.  The 
Leader of the Council responded that these points would be considered 
when the Item was debated.

Paul Redstone asked when would Fairerpower be available to the 
residents of Alsager.  The Portfolio Holder for Housing, Planning and 
Regeneration responded that Fairerpower was open to the residents of 
Alsager and the reason that certain postcodes did not generate a quote 
could be that the property was a new build and had not been registered on 
the national database yet.

Michael Unett spoke on the findings of the Cemeteries Strategy in relation 
to Alsager and noted that the report showed that the church yard in 
Alsager had the highest demand but the lowest capacity and that it stated 
town and parish cemeteries and churchyards played an important role in 
meeting local need for burials.  He asked would the Portfolio Holder meet 
with Alsager Town Council to resolve this issue.   

Rob Vernon thanked the Portfolio Holder for Environment for the action 
taken in relation to Becks Lane, Macclesfield.  He then referred to Priory 



Lane in Macclesfield, on which was located St Albans Catholic Primary 
School and Fallibroome Academy, and asked if the safety of this road 
could be reviewed with a view to providing a crossing outside the primary 
school.

19 QUESTIONS TO CABINET MEMBERS 

Councillor D Flude referred to her Notice of Motion on Taxi Licensing 
which had been considered by Cabinet at its meeting on 10 April 2014.  It 
was resolved the Portfolio Holder would write to the Secretary of State for 
Transport asking the Government to close the loopholes and potential for 
abuse left open as a result of cross border hiring and that the letter would 
also be sent to local MPs.  She asked if the letter had been sent and if any 
responses had been received.  The Portfolio Holder for Housing, Planning 
and Regeneration agreed to look into this.

Councillor D Flude stated that the residents of Lunt Avenue in Crewe had 
written to the Highways Department on 31 May 2018 about the London 
Plane trees, asking for them to be taken down.  No response had been 
received and she asked if the Portfolio Holder for Environment or the 
Executive Director of Place could look into this.

Cllr Corcoran stated that after Lyme Green it took 6 months of pressure 
before the Designated Independent Person’s report was released and 
asked when would the Designated Independent Person reports into the 
recently departed senior officers be released.  The Leader of the Council 
responded that the Council had a cross party Independent Disciplinary 
Committee which was still considering matters and whilst this was 
happening there would be no debate and no response to questions 
relating to these matters.

Cllr G Baxendale asked if the Council would do a review of the strategy for 
dropped kerbs in the major towns in the Borough.  The Leader of the 
Council agreed to forward this to the Portfolio Holder for Environment to 
consider.

20 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2018 be approved as a 
correct record.

21 EXPANSION OF SPRINGFIELD SPECIAL SCHOOL, CREWE 

Cabinet considered a report on the proposal to expand Springfield Special 
School.   

The Council had undertaken and published its Children and Young People 
with Special Educational Needs and or Disabilities Joint Strategy and 



Sufficiency Statement for Children and Young People with Special 
Education Needs.  The Sufficiency Statement had identified the need to 
increase specialist provision in the Borough as the amount of provision 
currently provided did not meet its needs. 

Springfield Special School had already initiated work to expand their 
current provision and had undertaken formal consultation on the 
proposals.  

RESOLVED:

That Cabinet, having given full consideration to the formal consultation 
process, approve the proposed expansion of Springfield Special School 
from 132 places to 156 places over a phased period.

22 SUSTAINABLE MODES OF TRAVEL TO SCHOOLS (SMOTS) 
STRATEGY 

Cabinet considered a report seeking approval for the Sustainable Modes 
of Travel to School Strategy.

The Strategy set out the framework for how the Council, in collaboration 
with key delivery partners, would support schools to enable and encourage 
sustainable travel to and from schools.  The Strategy had been informed 
by consultation with parents, schools and key stakeholders.

RESOLVED:

That Cabinet approve the Sustainable Modes of Travel to Schools 
Strategy as part of the Council’s Education Travel policy framework.

23 CHESHIRE EAST CEMETERIES STRATEGY AND CHESHIRE EAST 
REVISED CEMETERY REGULATIONS 

Cabinet considered a report seeking approval to consult on the draft 
Cemeteries Strategy and draft Cemeteries Regulations for Cheshire East 
Council.

RESOLVED:  That Cabinet

1 approve the draft Cheshire East Cemeteries Strategy and Cheshire 
East Cemeteries Regulations for the basis of public consultation; 
and 

2 delegate authority to the Executive Director – Place, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Environment to finalise and publish the 
Final Strategy and Cemetery Regulations, taking account of the 
representations received during the consultation exercise.



24 CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL COMMON ALLOCATIONS POLICY 
REVIEW 

Cabinet considered a report seeking approval of the revised Common 
Allocations Policy.

Consultation had been carried out on proposed changes to the Common 
Allocations Policy, which had come about due to changes in legislations, 
case law, Government guidance and a review of comments, complaints 
and compliments and feedback from a recent Peer Review.

RESOLVED:  That Cabinet

1 approve the revised Cheshire East Council Common Allocations 
Policy; and 

2 delegate authority to the Executive Director of Place, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Planning and Regeneration to 
make any future revisions to the Commons Allocations Policy 
following changes in legislation and Government guidance.

25 CORPORATE GRANTS POLICY 

Cabinet considered a report seeking approval of the Corporate Grants 
Policy and Grant Funding Protocol.

The Corporate Grants Policy set out the overall approach to be taken to 
the allocation of grants, donations and other contributions to outside 
bodies.  The Grant Funding Protocol provided further guidance on how the 
Council determined whether assistance was to be provided by way of 
grant funding or whether a service was to be commissioned and thereby 
be subject to the procurement process.

RESOVLED:  That Cabinet

1 approve the draft Corporate Grants Policy, as set out in Appendix 1 
to the Report; and 

2 approve the draft Grant Funding Protocol, as set out in Appendix 2 
to the Report.

26 EARLY HELP AND COMMUNITY GRANTS SCHEME 

Cabinet considered a report seeking approval of draft Early Help and 
Community Grant Scheme.

The Council’s Community Grant Scheme had been refreshed and 
renamed the Early Help and Community Grants Scheme.  In order to 
provide guidance for the operation of the Grant Scheme, approval was 
sought for the Policy for Allocation of Early Help and Community Grants 



Scheme to allow continuation of community grant scheme throughout the 
financial year 2018/19.

RESOLVED:  That Cabinet

1 approve the draft Early Help and Community Grants scheme, as set 
out in Appendix 1 to the Report; and 

2 delegate authority to the Executive Director of Place to make 
decisions on grant applications for funding from the Early Help and 
Community Grant Scheme.

27 BETTER CARE FUND YEAR-END REPORT 2017/18 

Cabinet considered the year-end report for the Better Care Fund, which 
detailed the performance of the Fund in Cheshire East over 2017/18.

RESOLVED:  That Cabinet note that

1 the Better Care Fund in Cheshire East is making a significant 
difference to people’s lives, as evidenced by the highlights of 
scheme performance in section 5.9 of the Report;

2 notable improvements to Delayed Transfers of Care have taken 
place during the course of 2017/18; and 

3 at the same time the Better Care Fund plan covers a two year 
period 2017/18 and in 2018/19 there remains much to do, as noted 
in next steps in section 5.24 of the Report.  The next steps include 
concluding the evaluation process, confirming schemes for 
2018/19, the completion of a number of self-assessments to better 
understand progress against 7 days working, integration and High 
Impact Care.

28 NEW DOMESTIC ABUSE COMMISSION 2019-22 

Cabinet considered a report which sought approval to commence 
procurement of a whole family domestic abuse service.

The Council had previously commissioned a whole family domestic abuse 
service from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2019 and the report sought approval 
to re-commission the service rather than taking the option to extend, as 
this would allow the Council greater flexibility to change the delivery model 
to meet needs.

RESOLVED:  That Cabinet

1 approve the commencement of procurement of a whole family 
domestic abuse service; and 



2 authorise the Executive Director – People to award the whole family 
domestic abuse contract.

29 RE-COMMISSIONING OF ASSISTIVE TECHNOLOGY SERVICES 

Cabinet considered a report which sought approval for the re-
commissioning of the Assistive Technology Services.

Assistive Technology played an important role in addressing the cares 
needs of individuals at reduced cost in place of traditional care, such as 
care at home.  Re-commissioning would ensure that appropriate 
equipment was supplied where it could help to deliver the social care 
assessed outcomes required.

The Leader asked for it to be noted that a WARN had been signed 
regarding the current arrangements for these services.

RESOLVED:  That Cabinet

1 approve the procurement of the Assistive Technology services; and 

2 delegate authority to the Executive Director of People to award 
contracts to the supplier(s) of Assistive Technology services.

30 RISK MANAGEMENT AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY POLICY 
STATEMENTS 

Cabinet considered a report seeking approval of the updated Risk 
Management Policy, Risk Appetite Statement and the Business Continuity 
Policy Statement and Strategy.

A review had been undertaken on the Council’s Risk Management Policy 
Statement and a small number of actions had been made to improve the 
Council’s risk management arrangements.  These were reported to the 
Audit and Governance Committee in May 2018, who recommended to 
Cabinet that the update Risk Management Policy be adopted.  The Audit 
and Governance Committee, at the same meeting, had also considered 
the updated Business Continuity Statement and Strategy and had 
recommended to Cabinet that it be adopted.

RESOLVED:  That Cabinet

1 approve the updated Risk Management Policy and Risk Appetite 
Statement, as set out in Appendix A to the Report; and 

2 approve the Business Continuity Policy Statement and Strategy, as 
set out in Appendix B to the Report.

The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 3.43 pm



Rachel Bailey (Chairman)



OFFICIAL
1

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:  11 September 2018

Report Title: SEND Reforms Task and Finish Group – Final Report

Portfolio Holder: Councillor J Saunders – Children and Families Portfolio Holder

Senior Officer: Mark Palethorpe - Acting Executive Director of People

1. Report Summary

1.1. This report introduces the SEND Reforms Task and Finish Groups report 
on its findings, conclusions and recommendations following its review.

2. Recommendations

2.1. That Cabinet receive the Task and Finish Groups report.

2.2. That Cabinet notes the following recommendations:

2.2.1 That the shortfall in provision, particularly for those with moderate 
learning difficulties and autism be addressed.

2.2.2 That all schools be encouraged to welcome children with SEND.
2.2.3 That working relationships between partners and the sharing of 

information continue to be improved, particularly in the production of 
EHCPs.

2.2.4 That EHCPs be produced as a word document to enable all partners to 
amend them.

2.2.5 That EHCPs avoid jargon, be written in plain English and celebrate 
what the child can do. 

2.2.6 That further training and support be given to all partners to ensure that 
referrals are complete and of a suitable quality.

2.2.7 Systems need to be implemented and support provided to ensure 
parents are kept fully up to date on the production of an EHCP.

2.2.8 That the Multi Agency Moderation Panel and its processes be 
reviewed.

2.2.9 That a Cheshire East accredited Educational Psychologist system be 
introduced to deal with and accept private reports.



OFFICIAL

2.2.10 That a review of the specialist support services be reviewed to ensure 
that they are fit for purpose.

2.2.11 That a review of the tribunal service be undertaken. 
2.2.12 That a further Task and Finish Group be established to investigate the 

local offer for 16 – 25 year olds.
2.2.13 That Cheshire East explore an equipment store to be used by all 

schools. 
2.2.14 That early year’s providers be supported with the right knowledge, 

training and resources, to identify children with SEN and apply for an 
EHCP.

2.2.15 That further work be undertaken to promote personal budgets and a 
policy be introduced.

2.2.16 That the Schools Forum be requested to investigate whether or not the 
allocation of funding with an EHCP and additional hours per child is 
adequate.

2.2.17 That the Schools Forum be requested to review the distribution and 
methodology of funding.

2.3 That the Portfolio Holder undertakes to come back to a future meeting of 
Cabinet with a formal response to each recommendation and that response 
be submitted to the Children and Families  Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. The Children and Families Act 2014 introduced a series of reforms relating 
to special educational needs and disability (SEND). The reforms aimed to 
improve the provision of services for children and young people with SEND, 
as well as giving them and their parents/carers greater control over how 
their needs are met, up to the age of 25. The Children and Families 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered it appropriate to scrutinise 
the implementation of those reforms.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. No alternative options were considered.

5. Background

5.1. The SEND reforms Task and Finish Group met in September 2017 to 
scope the review and agreed the following terms of reference:

 To understand the history of SEND.
 To understand the types of provision available.
 To investigate the timeliness of producing new EHC plans and of transferring 

statements to new plans
 To investigate the staffing and governance arrangements/resources.

http://lgiu.us3.list-manage.com/track/click?u=00e86e4f795b3722410373cd1&id=d84fdfd0a3&e=b17ac97391


OFFICIAL
3

 To determine whether or not partnership working could be improved.
 To investigate the child and parents/guardians perspective.
 To investigate the availability and accessibility of the local offer. 
 To investigate the take up of personal budgets.

5.2 Following completion of the review, at its meeting held on 16 July 2018, the 
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee approved the final 
report, which is now attached for consideration by Cabinet.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. There are no legal implications at this stage, however there may be 
legal implications associated with the implementation of any approved 
recommendations.  

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. The full list of recommendations which are being made to Cabinet by 
the Task and Finish Group have not yet been fully assessed. If the 
recommendations are approved further work is required to capture the 
financial implications.

6.2.2. The funding the Council receives via the DSG high needs block which 
is used to fund SEN expenditure is under significant pressure as a 
result of rising numbers, increasing complexity and the increase in 
costs of independent provision. 

6.2.3. As a result the Schools Forum has created a sub-group entitled the 
“High Needs Formula Working Group” to undertake further research 
and consider some of the options. These will consider ways to allocate 
the funding received by the Council differently and include banding.

6.2.4. However, as the funding is under pressure this will be redistribution 
rather than any increase in funding.  

6.2.5. The issue of increasing volume etc has been fed back to the relevant 
Government Departments. 

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. There are no policy implications at this stage; however approval of the 
recommendations may result in policy changes.



OFFICIAL

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. The recommendations are intended to create greater equality for 
children and young people with SEND.

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. No human resource implications are identified at this stage.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. There are no risk management implications at this stage.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People 

6.8.1. The recommendations are intended to improve the offer to children and 
young people with SEND.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. No ward members are directly affected.

8. Access to Information

8.1 The following documents were considered during the review and are 
available for inspection.

 Children and Young People with Special Educational Needs and/or 
Disabilities Cheshire East Self Evaluation – December 2017.

 Children and Young People with Special Educational Needs and/or 
Disabilities Joint Strategy 2017/19

 Cheshire East SEN/EHCP scorecard
 LGiU – briefing notes.
 Special Educational Needs and Disability Code of Practice
 Sufficiency statement and Provision Plan

9. Contact Information
9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 

officer:
Name: Katie Small
Job Title: Scrutiny Officer
Email: katie.small@cheshireeast.gov.uk



 

1 | P a g e  
 

  

 

 

 

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

SEND Reforms 

Task and Finish Group 

Final Report 

March 2018 

http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/


 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

1. Foreword 

 

Chairman – Councillor Flude 

 

In coming to terms with the realisation that a child has a learning difficulty parents 

and carers need to be reassured that they will receive support from the local 

authority’s that is timely, easily accessible with outcomes that enable  their child’s 

prospects to be life enhancing.  

With the implementation of the Children and Families Act 2014, the statutory 

framework for the personalisation of services for children and young people from 0 to 

25 years, it was decided at the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee of Cheshire East Borough Council that there should be an in-depth look 

at the new system through the setting up of a Task and Finish Group.  

We began our Scrutiny in September 2017, we apologise for the delay in publishing 

this report. The reason for our delay, events somewhat over took the group when 

Ofsted and the CQC inspected the councils SEND in March 2018. We considered it 

pertinent to consider the finding of the inspection before publishing. 

The Group thank parents, carers and the many staff from Education, Health and 

Social Care who gave evidence to the Group. Special thanks go to Katie Small, 

Scrutiny Officer at Cheshire East for all her assistance.   

 

2.0   Introduction 

The Children and Families Act 2014 introduced a wide range of reforms to the 
organisation of Special Education Needs and Disability (SEND) provision. These 
reforms were aimed at improving the quality and reliability of SEND provision by 
providing a joined up approach between the relevant agencies and by giving parents 



 

3 | P a g e  
 

and young people more influence over the provision they received. Major changes 
include: 

 The replacement of Special Education Needs (SEN) Statements with 
Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs). 

 Increased support for 19 year olds up to 25 year olds. This includes more 
support transition to adulthood, improves options around education, 
vocational and work placements and independent living skills. 

 The local offer - SEND services for children and families being made available 
in a clear easy to read manner via a local online service directory. 

 Local areas to involve families and children in discussions and decisions in 
relation to their SEND care and education.  

3.0  Recommendations 

 

3.1 That the shortfall in provision, particularly for those with moderate learning difficulties 

and autism be addressed. 

3.2 That all schools be encouraged to welcome children with SEN. 

3.3 That working relationships between partners and the sharing of information continue 

to be improved, particularly in the production of EHCPs*. 

3.4 That EHCPs be produced as a word document to enable all partners to amend 

them*. 

3.5 That EHCPs avoid jargon, be written in plain English and celebrate what the child 

can do.  

3.6 That further training and support be given to all partners to ensure that referrals are 

complete and of a suitable quality. 

3.7 Systems need to be implemented and support provided to ensure parents are kept 

fully up to date on the production of an EHCP. 

3.8 That the Multi Agency Moderation Panel and its processes be reviewed. 

3.9 That a Cheshire East accredited Educational Psychologist system be introduced to 

deal with and accept private reports. 

3.10 That a review of the specialist support services be reviewed to ensure that they are fit 

for purpose. 

3.11 That a review of the tribunal service be undertaken.  

3.12 That a further Task and Finish Group be established to investigate the local offer for 

16 – 25 year olds. 

3.13 That Cheshire East explore an equipment store to be used by all schools.  

3.14 That early year’s providers be supported with the right knowledge, training and 

resources, to identify children with SEN and apply for an EHCP. 

3.15 That further work be undertaken to promote personal budgets and a policy be 

introduced. 

3.16 That the Schools Forum be requested to investigate whether or not the allocation of 

funding with an EHCP and additional hours per child is adequate. 



 

4 | P a g e  
 

3.17 That the Schools Forum be requested to review the distribution and methodology of 

funding. 

 

 

*Some of the recommendations have been implemented or progressed during the review.   

 

4.0 Background and Membership 

4.1 Following a slow response to the implementation of the Children and Families Act 

2014, a report was submitted to informal Cabinet outlining the Council’s improvement 
programme to implement all aspects of the SEND reforms. The Schools Forum had 
concerns regarding the funding for Special Educational Needs (SEN) and alongside 
this, the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee recognised the 
need for an in-depth look at the entire SEN system due to there being considerable 
delay in transferring existing statements to EHCP.  The Committee therefore agreed 
to set up a Task and Finish Group to review the progress made in implementing the 
SEND reforms and it was agreed that the following Members would sit on that Group: 

                                                   

             Councillor R Bailey              Councillor M Beanland                  Councillor D Flude 

                                                                  

               Councillor Mo Grant                      Councillor G Merry 

 



 

5 | P a g e  
 

5.0 Terms of Reference 
 

1. To understand the history of SEND. 
2. To understand the types of provision available. 
3. To investigate the timeliness of producing new EHC plans and of transferring 

statements to new plans. 
4. To investigate the staffing and governance arrangements/resources. 
5. To determine whether or not partnership working could be improved. 
6. To investigate the child and parents/guardians perspective. 
7. To investigate the availability and accessibility of the local offer.  
8. To investigate the take up of personal budgets. 

 
 

 
 

6.0 Methodology 
 
 6.1 Witnesses 
 

 Focus Group 1 (Staff) – Representatives from SEND Team, Specialist Team, EY, 

YSS, School improvement, front line staff, legal services. 

 Focus Group 2 (partners) – Representatives from DCO, CSC, CAMHS, SALT, 0-19 

Service. 

 Focus group 3 (Performance and Resources) – I Donegani, B Harding, S Reading 

 Focus Group 4 (Parents and Carers).   

 Visits to Hermitage Primary School, Springfield Special School, Wilmslow High 

School, Underwood West Academy, South Cheshire College, Pebblebrook Primary 

School.  

 Portfolio Holder – Councillor J Saunders. 

 
6.2 Timeline 

 
 

18 September 2017 Review scoped 

6 October 2017 Meeting with Director of Children’s Support and Prevention to 
understand the history of SEND and types of provision available 

7 November 2017 Visit to Springfield Special School and South Cheshire College. 

23 November 2017 Focus group, staff, resources and partners. 

30 November 2017 Focus group, parents and carers. 

16 January 2018 Visit to Underwood West Primary School. 

17 January 2018 Visit to Hermitage Primary School. 

23 January 2018 Visit to Wilmslow High School. 

5 February 2018 Meeting with Portfolio Holder. 

9 February 2018 Meeting with Director of Children’s Support and Prevention. 

16 February 2018 Visit to Pebblebrook Primary School. 

March 2018 Task and Finish Group met to agree final report. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

6 | P a g e  
 

7.0 Findings 
 
 
7.1 School Provision 

7.1.2  Within Cheshire East there are a total of 155 schools, This includes 124 primary 
schools, 24 secondary schools and 1 nursery. These include 5 special schools and 
10 schools with a resource provision.  The total population in Cheshire East schools 
is 52,749, 1885 of the school population have a EHCP/Statement, it is acknowledged 
that there is a shortfall of in borough specialist provision to meet the needs of 
Cheshire East Children. Therefore children are travelling long journeys, often in taxis 
to receive suitable education (448 children are being educated outside of the 
borough) or being home schooled. In response to this the Council is in the process of 
establishing a new special free school in Crewe which will accommodate 40 children, 
to support pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs. Work is also 
underway with a number of schools to increase their capacity which will creating an 
additional 270 spaces by 2020, despite this the Task and Finish Group still 
considered that there to be shortfall in provision particularly for those children with 
moderate learning difficulties and Autism which is an important part of the Inclusive 
Education principal. This is resulting in some children being home educated, which 
needs to be monitored more efficiently. 

7.1.3 Additionally it would appear that some schools are reluctant to enrol children with 
SEN as it can be reflected in the performance statistics, which puts extra pressure on 
those schools that welcome SEN children.   

7.1.3 In recognising that each child is an individual with individual needs, the curriculum 
should be adapted to the child’s ability; however this does not always appear to be 
the case.  

7.2  SEND Toolkit 

7.2.1 The Toolkit sets out the partnerships graduated response to identifying and meeting 
the needs throughout the continuum of need from 0-25 by giving clear consistent 
guidance about the levels of support and strategies that should be used in 
educational settings at the different levels of need. It also provides guidance on the 
SEN funding that is allocated to educational settings and schools, outlines when 
educational settings should consult with external professionals and also clarify when 
an EHCP needs assessment or specialist support may be required. Key partners 
including parents, carers and SENCOs co produced the Toolkit. The Task and Finish 
Group had received positive feedback and users had found it to be excellent and 
easy to use, however it may be challenging for some schools to follow.  The Toolkit 
has also been nominated for a national award. 

 



 

7 | P a g e  
 

7.3 The Local Offer 

7.3.1 Every Council is required to publish details of the local support available for young 
people with SEND. The local offer provides clear and accurate information about 
local education, health and care services. The Local Offer for Cheshire East is 
detailed below: 

  

 

7.4 Services Working Together 

7.4.1 Children and young people need well-coordinated, coherent support across 
education, health and social care to help them achieve their agreed outcomes. Local 
Authorities and key agencies are required to coordinate and jointly plan services. The 
Task and Finish Group met with partners and was pleased with the high level of 
turnout and the enthusiasm of partners. It was acknowledged that in the past 
partnership working had required improvement. However, with the introduction of the 
SEND Partnership Board, the group agreed that improvements were being made and 
partners and Cheshire East staff were both positive and eager to work together. 
Working relationships between schools and health partners still needed to be 
improved, particularly in the production of EHCP’s and sharing of information.  



 

8 | P a g e  
 

7.4.2 The provision in Macclesfield and Crewe health services are not consistent, the 
CAMH service is overstretched and referrals into the system can take a significant 
amount of time. However the Emotionally Healthy Schools Programme is having a 
positive impact on this. 

7.5 Education Health and Care Plans 

7.5.1 EHCPs replace SEN Statements. A plan is a legally binding summary of the 
provision that is to be made for an individual aged 0-25 in response to their needs 
and aspirations covering education, health and social care. They are based on a 
single assessment process, involving all the relevant agencies, and include input 
from the young person who is the subject of the proposed plan, and their 
parent/carer. All pre existing SEN statements are required to be transferred to 
EHCPs by the end of March 2018. There is a 20 week statutory timeline for agreeing 
a EHCP, whilst there have been considerable delays in transferring statements to 
EHCPs, Cheshire East is on target to meet the March 2018 deadline. The process is 
attached at appendix A. 

7.5.2 The Task and Finish Group discovered draft EHCPs are sent to schools in a PDF 
format; therefore schools are unable to amend the documents, currently any 
amendments are sent back to the Council offices to be processed. The Task and 
Finish Group felt that this caused unnecessary and considerable delays, putting an 
overstretched service under additional pressure. Schools considered the process for 
applying for an EHCP to be lengthy and time consuming, requiring too much 
evidence, rather that trusting the expertise of SENCOs.  

7.5.3 In the past there also appeared to be a delay in producing EHCP’s due to a lack of 
joint working between partners, with a lot of the work and coordination being done by 
the schools and partners not responding in a timely manner. As Education, Health 
and Care are all equal parts of the EHCP; all agencies must share responsibility and 
information in a timely manner. The Group agreed that the quality of referrals needed 
to be improved, as poor or incomplete referrals, from any partner, can only add to the 
workload of the SEND Team. 

7.5.4 The transfer from Statements to EHCPs has been required to meet Government 
deadlines and in some instances mistakes have been made.  It is important that the 
plans are kept up to date particularly when transitioning from primary to secondary 
school. The EHCP should avoid jargon and use plain English wherever possible. The 
EHCP does not celebrate enough what the child can do; this can be an important 
positive aspect to the report.  

 

 



 

9 | P a g e  
 

7.6 Engaging Parents, Children and Young People. 

7.6.1 Local Authorities must ensure that parents, children and young people are involved in 
discussions and decisions about every aspect of their care and support, planning 
outcomes and agreeing services and activities to meet those outcomes. They must 
also take steps to ensure that parents/young people are actively involved (co-
production) in contributing to assessments, planning and reviewing EHCP’s. Early 
years providers, schools and colleges should fully engage parents when drawing up 
the plans and policies that affect them. 

7.6.2 The Task and Finish Group met with carers and parents to hear their experiences of 
the SEND Reforms. Generally the process had been confusing and distressing which 
was having a negative impact on family life. They did not understand the processes, 
were not guided through the system or kept up to date on progress. Several parents 
struggled due to waiting for an Educational Psychologist assessment, there was a 
lack of school places for SEN and some schools did not have the experience or 
knowledge to meet their children’s needs.  

7.6.3 The Task and Finish Group agreed that there needed to be a system and support in 
place for guiding parents through the process, ensuring they are kept fully up to date 
and feel part of their child’s EHCP. The parents view may not align with the children’s 
need which is why good communication is essential. 

7.7 Educational Psychologist and Cluster Meetings 

7.7.1 Educational Psychologists are one of the professional groups who must provide 
advice to contribute to the assessment and planning EHCPs for those children or 
young people with particularly complex needs. There is a significant shortage of 
Educational Psychologists in Cheshire East which is delaying the assessments, 
children are being held on a waiting list for a considerable amount of time and 
therefore may not be receiving the immediate help and support they need. Cheshire 
East Code of Practice does not allow private Educational Psychologist reports to be 
submitted as part of evidence when applying for an EHCP as they are not considered 
to be impartial. The Task and Finish Group felt that allowing this would help alleviate 
some of the pressures on the service and the possibility of implementing a scheme 
where private Educational Psychologists could be Cheshire East accredited should 
be investigated. 

7.7.2 Cluster meetings have been introduced to facilitate schools meeting with an 
Educational Psychologist to discuss specific cases. Each school in the cluster group 
can take 2 cases to a meeting. Often not all cases are heard due to running out of 
time and are therefore deferred to the next meeting. This not only causes a delay in 
the child receiving an EHCP/support but also causes a back log of cases, some 
schools now considered themselves to be at crisis point.  The Group considered that 
the cluster groups were too large and not fit for purpose. There should be fewer 



 

10 | P a g e  
 

schools in a cluster group and the meetings structured with an agenda for each 
meeting and every case should be allocated a specific timeslot. 

7.7.3 Cluster Meetings are often considering children with behavioural issues; however the 
Task and Finish Group felt that cluster meetings are not the correct forum for dealing 
with this type of issue, if behaviour is assessed outside of the cluster meetings then 
this could save time at the meetings.  Moreover schools have to prioritise children 
with behavioural issues as they often cause the most disruption in class and in some 
cases put other children in danger. It was therefore felt that a behavioural support 
service should be reintroduced. 

7.8 Multi Agency Moderation Panel Meetings 

7.8.1 EHC needs assessment application forms are taken to the Multi Agency Moderation 
Panel to determine whether or not an EHCP is required. Parents and SENCOs 
highlighted to the Group that there was a lack of transparency in the decision making 
process. They did not understand who sat on the panel and parents did not know 
when their child’s case was being heard. It was agreed that the panel and its 
processes should be reviwed. 

7.9 Tribunal  

7.9.1 Parents can appeal to the SEN tribunal on the following grounds: 

 refusal to assess 

 refusal to change the EHCP following its annual review 

 refusal to make an EHCP following an assessment 

 decision to cease to maintain an EHCP 

7.9.2 It was noted that in 2017 there were 42 appeals lodged, and that less than 25% of 
tribunals rule in favour of the Local Authority. As legal representation is becoming 
more common it is important that Cheshire East staff are resourced and trained to an 
adequate standard.  The Task and Finish Group agreed that this area should be 
reviewed as a reduction in tribunals would indicate a more efficient system with 
increased parental satisfaction. 

7.10 Birth to 25 Year olds 

7.10.1 The Children and Families Act 2014 extended the SEND system from birth to 25 
Years, which will support young people into further education, employment and 



 

11 | P a g e  
 

independent living. The Task and Finish Group has concerns that post 16, young 
people are not able to access the jobs market due to other social issues, for those 
that are unable to work, and there is also a lack of social care. As this was a new 
requirement of the Council, there were significant improvements to be made. The 
Task and Finish Group agreed this area should be reviewed at a later date.  

7.11 Equipment Store 

7.11.1 Throughout the review, the issue of funding and cost of equipment consistently 
arose. The Task and Finish Group agreed that as specialist equipment was so 
expensive and there were significant budgets pressures on schools, Cheshire East 
should coordinate an equipment store which could be used by all schools, enabling 
equipment to be recycled.  

7.12 Early Years Providers 

7.12.1 Schools commented that children were coming through the system from early years 
providers and starting in reception class without an EHCP, even though it was 
evident that the child had SEN, which put significant additional pressure on the 
school. The Task and Finish Group acknowledged the importance of early 
intervention and agreed that work needed to be done with early years providers 
ensuring they are provided with the required knowledge and training.  

7.13 Personal Budgets 

7.13.1 Parents of children or young people themselves with an EHCP have the right to 
request a personal budget for their support. A personal budget is an amount of 
money provided to the family to enable them to directly purchase all or some of the 
provision set out in their EHCP. By having a say in the way this budget is used, a 
parent or young person can control elements of their support. This facility can also 
help build the independence of the student concerned. 

7.13.2 The adoption of personal budgets is low in Cheshire East. Some schools and parents 
are unsure of what personal budgets are and how they can be used. Whilst it is noted 
that there is information on the Councils website; the Group agreed that there needs 
to be a media campaign, training available for schools which could be feed through to 
parents and a policy introduced.  

7.14 Funding 



 

12 | P a g e  
 

7.14.1 Although funding is not part of the remit of the Task and Finish Group, it is an issue 
that consistently arose throughout the review. 

7.14.2 The general funding received by mainstream schools is determined by the number of 
pupils on roll, the characteristics of the pupils (such as deprivation and attainment 
levels) and a fixed lump sum element. From 2018/19 the funding provided must 
equate to at least £3,300 per pupil at primary and £4,600 per pupil at secondary.  In 
Cheshire East all schools receive higher levels of per pupil funding. However, it is 
acknowledged that Cheshire East receives a lower level of funding than elsewhere 
due to relatively lower deprivation levels. 

Schools are required to fund the first £6,000 of additional costs per child with SEN to 
deliver the outcomes outlined in the EHCP from that general funding. Top up funding 
of £514 per hour per annum is provided by the Council if required by the EHCP from 
high needs funding.  

It was highlighted to the Task and Finish Group that the funding per hour had 
remained the same since 2009 which no longer covered the cost of specialist 
services. The formula for the £514 is based on an old hourly rate and no longer felt to 
be in line with neighbouring authorities. This is an area that requires investigating. 
Additionally the Special Educational Needs and Disability Code of Practice states 
that EHCP funding should not be awarded in hours, therefore a banding system 
should be considered. Parents find hourly funding confusing as they expect 1 – 1 
tuition which is not always feasible. 

The local Schools Forum has created a sub group called the “high needs formula 
working group” to review how the high needs funding provided to the Council is 
distributed.  The intention is to ensure that use of the funding is transparent, matches 
needs and is within budget – in the context of the high needs block being under 
pressure from increasing demand and complexity. The results are intended to be 
implemented for the 2019/20 budget.  

8.0 Conclusion 

8.1 The implications of the Children and Families Act 2014 have resulted in a huge shift 
in the way systems work, which had resulted in national challenge and most 
authorities had been slow to implement the reforms. Transferring statements to 
EHCPs has been under resourced, which has led to a backlog and mistakes being 
made, dedicated staff have worked hard to meet the March 2018 deadline.  

8.2 Improvements have continued to be made throughout this review and some of the 
recommendations contained within this report have already been implemented. 
However attention still needs to be given to provision, funding, the offer for young 



 

13 | P a g e  
 

people aged 16-25, the working relationship between partners and early year’s 
settings being equipped to detect SEN. 

9.0 Background Documents 

 Children and Young People with Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities 
Cheshire East Self Evaluation – December 2017. 

 Children and Young People with Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities Joint 
Strategy 2017/19 

 Cheshire East SEN/EHCP scorecard 

 LGiU – briefing notes. 

 Special Educational Needs and Disability Code of Practice 
 Sufficiency statement and Provision Plan 

 





Do we need to request a needs assessment? 

The educational setting meets with parent carers, the young person and other 

professionals (as appropriate) to decide whether a request for a needs assessment 

is required 

 

Yes 

 

Submit Needs Assessment request to SEND Team 

Request to include all current reports from professionals involved 

with the child or young person 

 

 

 

Is there enough information in the request? 

Are all professional reports included? 
No 

 

Contact is made by the SEND Service 

A phone call is made to the educational 

setting explaining the additional 

information needed.  

Yes 

Appendix A 

Educational Setting requesting an Education, Health and Care Needs Assessment 

 

No 

 

Continue to monitor 

progress at SEN 

Support through a 

process of ‘plan, do, 

review’ with a  

SEN Support plan in 

place.  Request for a 

needs assessment can be 

re-considered at a later 

date if difficulties persist 

  

 

The needs assessment request is logged and a letter is sent to notify the 

family  

 

 

 

 

Decision is made on whether to assess No 

 

Yes 

 

1-6 Weeks 

 

SEN Support Plan 

The 0-25 SEND Officer meets 

with the parents and carers, the 

young person, the educational 

setting, and other professionals 

and revises the SEN Support 

Plan. Young Person’s and 

parents’ rights are confirmed 

via letter. Educational setting 

continues to monitor progress 

through a process of ‘plan, do, 

and review’. Request for a 

needs assessment can be re-

considered at a later date if 

difficulties persist. 

 

0-25 SEND Officer contacts family to discuss next steps 

Timescales and what’s involved is discussed. Parents/carers are 

asked if there is any additional information needed from agencies 

currently involved with the child/young person. SEND Officer 

checks that previously submitted parent carer views are still 

accurate.  

 

SEND Officer explains Independent Supporter offer.  

 

Date is set for co-production meeting with parent carers, 

child/young person and educational setting. 

Day 1  

The request is Triaged and the allocated 0-25 SEND Officer contacts 

family to discuss next steps 
1 Week  

P2 – Pre 

screening of 

applications 

P8 – 0-25 Officer 

Workload 

planning 

P9 – Liquid Logic 

letters and 

templates  

P11 – Structure of 

Parental Meetings  

 P3 & 4 – Receipt 

and Triaging of 

new referrals 

P6 – Panel 

Management 

Review  

P7 – Decisions 

made outside of 

Panel 

 

 

 

P11 

P9 



 

 

Information Gathering 

 All information is made available to advice givers and additional advice is 

requested if needed. Advice givers must respond within 6 weeks from the date 

of the request.  

 The 0-25 SEND Officer drafts the template using the information received  

Co-Production Meeting with 0-25 SEND Officer 

0-25 SEND Officer meets with parent carer, child/young 

person and educational setting. The young person’s and 

parent/carers’ views are sought and updated within the 

assessment. If young person is not able to attend, the best 

person and method to seek their views is identified. 

0-25 SEND Officer updates the template 

Any further advice received is included, and the 

updated template is shared with the parents and carers  

Decision is made on whether to issue an Education, Health and Care Plan   

Issue DRAFT Education, 

Health and Care Plan 

Child’s parent or young 

person can provide views 

on draft 

Yes 

SEN Support Plan 

The 0-25 SEND Officer meets with the 

parents and carers, the young person, 

the educational setting, and other 

professionals and incorporates the 

findings of the assessment into the SEN 

Support Plan 

In
fo

rm
a
tio

n
 

G
a
th

e
rin

g
 

No 

Consult 

Education 

Provider 

Issue FINAL Education, 

Health and Care Plan 

The whole process needs to be completed within 20weeks 

16 Weeks 

 

Completing an Assessment for an Education, Health and Care Plan 

1
5

 D
a
y
s 

 

1
5

 D
a
y
s 

 20 Weeks 

 

P10 – Information 

gathering 

templates, delays 

and clarifications  

P5 – Panel 

Preparation 

P11 – Structure of 

Parental 

Meetings  

 

P9 – Liquid Logic 

letters and 

templates  

P6 – Panel 

Management 

Review  

P7 – Decisions 

made outside of 

Panel 

 

 

 P11 – Structure 

of Parental 

Meetings  

 

P12  

 Consultations  

P9 – Liquid Logic 

letters and 

templates  P1 - 20 Week 

Process 

Management & 

Monitoring  

 

Template is sent to the parent carer and/or young person 

a minimum of 48 hours before the meeting with the 0-25 

SEND Officer. 

 



OFFICIAL

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 11 September 2018

Report Title: Garden Village at Handforth – Delivery Strategy 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Arnold, Portfolio Holder for Housing, Planning and 
Regeneration

Senior Officer: Frank Jordan, Executive Director of Place

1. Report Summary 

1.1 This report seeks Cabinet approval to expedite development at The Garden 
Village at Handforth (TGV). As shown at Appendix 1, the Council is the 
principal landowner, with approximately six other known landowners and a 
parcel of unregistered land within the redline boundary of the Local Plan 
Allocation.

1.2 Cabinet will be aware that this is a priority scheme for a number of reasons:

1.2.1 It is allocated in the adopted Local Plan with the aim of delivering around 1500 
homes, employment land, extra care housing, a primary school, village centre, 
green space and sustainable transport infrastructure. It is crucial to the 
delivery of the Council’s five year housing supply.

1.2.2 The Government has identified it as one of just fourteen new garden villages 
in the UK which has given the Council increased access to public funding 
through Homes England and the support of key national agencies.

1.2.3 It has potential to generate capital receipts in support of the Council’s medium 
term financial strategy.

1.3 There has been noteworthy progress, including:

1.3.1 Allocation of the site in the adopted Local Plan.
 
1.3.2 Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) of £21.7m from Homes England (subject to 

business case evaluation and due diligence) to forward fund key strategic 
infrastructure such as roads, junction improvements, green space and the 
village centre.

1.3.3 Capacity Funding from Homes England to develop a Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) as required by the Local Plan policy and a subsequent 
planning application. Adoption of the SPD is anticipated by end of 2018.

1.4 However, in order to take the scheme forward, Cabinet approvals in relation to 
the following key aspects of the delivery programme are now sought:

1.4.1 Land assembly, including via Compulsory Purchase, appropriation and 
renegotiating existing leases where appropriate and necessary.

1.4.2 Acceptance of the potential Housing Infrastructure Grant Funding.



OFFICIAL

1.4.3 Bringing forward a land disposal strategy to accelerate the early phases of the 
development to ensure the Council’s Housing Supply objectives are achieved 
and the HIF requirements are met.

1.4.4 Agreements with neighbouring landowners relating to delivery of 
infrastructure, equalisation, collaboration and financial contributions.

1.4.5 Procurement of strategic infrastructure including highways, utilities and 
groundworks.

1.4.6 Long term management of the development to ensure quality consistent with 
the SPD, Masterplan and future planning applications.

2. Recommendations

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

2.1.1 Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Place to agree the terms and 
conditions of commercial, infrastructure delivery, collaboration and 
equalisation agreements between Cheshire East Council and the other 
principal landowners in consultation with the S151 Officer and the Director of 
Legal Services, and authorises the Executive Director of Place to take all 
appropriate action to enter into said Agreements.

2.1.2 Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Place, in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Housing, Planning and Regeneration and the Director of 
Legal Services, to take all necessary actions to secure the acquisition and/or 
appropriation of land and/or new rights to enable the construction of 
infrastructure (in line with the Allocation, the SPD, Masterplan & future 
planning approvals) and the delivery of all other planning objectives sought 
from the development of TGV including, where required, by use of 
Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO).

2.1.3 Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Place to agree the Terms and 
Conditions of the Grant offer from Homes England, in consultation with the 
S151 Officer and the Director of Legal Services, and authorises the Executive 
Director of Place to take all necessary actions to enter into an appropriate 
agreement.

2.1.4 Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Place to take all actions 
necessary to procure the required strategic infrastructure, utilities and 
groundworks as set out in the Grant offer from Homes England, the Local 
Plan Allocation and summarised in this report. 

2.1.5 Authorises the Executive Director of Place, in consultation with the S151 
Officer and Director of Legal Services, to enter into a contract with the winning 
tenderer for the construction of the required infrastructure at the appropriate 
time and within the approved budget.

2.1.6 Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Place to approve Land 
Disposal Strategy and to take all actions necessary to dispose of Council 



OFFICIAL

owned land in order to bring forward development consistent with the SPD, 
Masterplan and planning approvals.

2.1.7 Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Place to take all actions 
necessary to establish or appoint a management regime, to take responsibility 
for the long term maintenance and enhancement of The Garden Village.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1 The overarching reason for the recommendations is to expedite the delivery of 
this priority scheme, which will support the delivery of a number of key Council 
objectives, as set out in section 1 of this report.

3.2 The Council is seeking to build upon and strengthen the collaborative working 
arrangements with the other principal landowners, to ensure fair contributions 
from all parties and to facilitate a high quality development, with all essential 
and enabling infrastructure consistent with garden village principles.

3.3 Delegated authority to assemble the site, including where required to 
renegotiate leases with existing occupiers and using CPO and/or 
appropriation powers, is necessary to bring the scheme forward without delay. 
In particular, the roads, junction improvements and sustainable transport links 
are essential pieces of enabling infrastructure for the whole site and, thus, 
possession of the currently unregistered land is critical in ensuring its delivery 
at the earliest opportunity.

3.4 The £20m award from the Housing Infrastructure Fund is conditional on the 
Council entering into a formal agreement with Homes England and will be 
contingent on undertaking to deliver the programme in line with the Local Plan 
Allocation. It is now important to enter into the formal agreement and to 
ensure the Council meets the terms and conditions of the Grant offer.

3.5 Timely delivery of both the housing and key infrastructure requires the Council 
to procure a contractor to deliver the new strategic infrastructure including 
roads, junctions, utilities and groundworks set out therein.

3.6 Agreeing the land disposal strategy for the Council’s landholding at The 
Garden Village enables the Council to bring forward, with certainty, a 
managed pipeline of different opportunities in terms of scale, tenure and 
density to ensure a timely contribution to achieving the Council’s housing 
targets.  

3.7 Establishing a long term management vehicle for The Garden Village, with 
community ownership/representation is integral to the principles of the 
Government’s Garden Village concept. This entity will have responsibility for 
managing, maintaining and enhancing community and sports facilities and 
open spaces.



OFFICIAL

4. Other Options Considered

4.1 Consideration was given to proceeding without Housing Infrastructure 
Funding but this would slow the pace of development and the early delivery of 
wider benefits described above.

4.2 Consideration was given to disposing of the site to a single developer or in 
parcels but this would not result in certainty of delivery or the quality 
objectives that the Council wishes to see.  

5. Background

5.1 Policy Context

5.1.1 TGV was adopted as a strategic site in the Council’s Local Plan as site LPS 
33. It forms a significant element of the Plan’s housing supply, with the whole 
site allocation targeted to deliver 1500 dwellings during the Plan period. The 
Council must manage the delivery of the allocated sites to maintain a five year 
supply, to protect against the release of further greenfield land for 
development.  The Council, through EotN as lead developer, is bringing 
forward the SPD and planning applications over the next twelve months.

5.2 Strategic Infrastructure and the potential need for a CPO

5.2.1 A CPO might need to be used to acquire land from parties unwilling to 
cooperate or where land is unregistered. 

5.3 Disposal of Part of the Council Owned Land

5.3.1 The Council’s land will be disposed of according to an agreed Land Disposal 
Strategy, which balances housing and commercial objectives, with quality of 
place, tenure types, affordability, infrastructure etc.

5.4 Housing Infrastructure Funding (HIF)

5.4.1 The Housing Infrastructure Fund will enable the delivery of significant upfront 
infrastructure including junction improvements and highways works, service 
roads, creation of a new village centre, core digital infrastructure, electricity 
and gas connections, water supply and drainage. 

5.4.2 The infrastructure will increase the value of development land and enable the 
Council to maximise land values within the constraints of the SPD.

5.4.3 It will be important to procure contractors as soon as the Grant funding is in 
place to ensure Homes England’s strict timetable with regard to spend is 
adhered to. 

5.4.4 The indicative work programme is set out in Appendix 2.



OFFICIAL

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1 Legal Implications    

6.1.1. In taking actions towards a potential CPO, the Executive Director of Place, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Planning and Regeneration 
and the Director of Legal Services, must follow the relevant processes set out 
in The Local Government Act 1972 and be mindful of the public law principles 
set out in The Localism Act 2011.  In demonstrating the public interest case 
for proceeding with a CPO, the Executive Director of Place must also consider 
the Human Rights Act, as well as Articles 1 and 8 of the First Protocol to the 
European Convention on Human Rights.  These Articles protect the rights of 
everyone to peaceful enjoyment of their possessions and private and family 
life, the home and correspondence respectively.

6.1.2 Further legal advice will be provided throughout the life of the project.  In the 
next stages of work, this will focus on land acquisition/disposal processes, the 
terms of the Housing Infrastructure Grant funding conditions and ensuring 
compliance with public procurement legislation. 

6.2 Finance Implications

6.2.1 The acquiring authority using CPO powers is expected to make clear the 
sources of funding for the land acquisition, compensation and the works 
themselves. The professional fees required to commence the CPO process 
are forecast at £50,000 to cover preliminary legal and surveyor’s fees.  This 
can be funded through Engine of the North’s (EotN) approved Business Plan. 

6.2.2 The cost of pursuing the CPO and/or appropriation though to implementation 
is difficult to estimate and will depend upon the success of private treaty 
negotiations. 

6.2.3 The actual costs incurred for land acquisition/ compensation will be subject to 
further approvals at the appropriate level, as required in the Constitution. 

6.2.4 The infrastructure will be funded through a combination of Housing 
Infrastructure Grant Funding and payments made by the developers / 
landowners. The various work packages have been accurately costed and are 
up to date and the scheme is capable of being implemented immediately.

6.2.5 The emerging collaboration, equalisation and infrastructure agreements with 
other landowners will enable the Council to share costs with neighbouring 
landowners, deliver efficiencies and to maximise land values.

6.2.6 This scheme is included within the Capital Addendum, as part of the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy approved at Council on 22nd February 2018. The 
Addendum includes projects of strategic importance, but where detailed 
business cases were not in place at the time the budget was approved. Items 
can be moved from the Addendum to the funded capital programme with the 
approval of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Communications and the 
Interim Executive Director of Corporate Services. Such approval will be in 
place before expenditure on this scheme commences.



OFFICIAL

6.3 Equality Implications

6.3.1 Equality implications were considered as part of the Business Case 
preparation through a systematic Equality Impact screening assessment.

6.4 Human Resources Implications

6.4.1 There are no anticipated long-term impacts on staffing levels or costs within 
EotN or the Council. If additional temporary resources are required these will 
be met from the project or existing budgets.

6.5 Risk Management Implications

6.5.1 The full cost of a CPO process is unknown at the time it commences and this 
must be considered a risk. Pursuing a CPO would, where possible, be 
preceded by voluntary negotiations to acquire any necessary interests by 
agreement. The Council can confirm to the Secretary of State it no longer 
wishes to use CPO powers in respect of any interest should negotiations be 
successful or if the financial risks are considered to be too great. Delaying the 
pursuit of necessary acquisitions will delay the delivery of the infrastructure, 
the housing and the associated policy objectives it will achieve. 

6.5.2 The sale of land will be subject to the grant of a suitable planning permission 
and there is a risk that this might not be obtained.  However, the principle of 
development and the type of uses are consistent with planning policy, the 
emerging SPD and the Masterplan and pre-application consultations with the 
planning authority will be undertaken as part of EotN’s due diligence.

 6.5.3 There is a risk that objections to the disposal of Public Open Space will result 
in a decision not to dispose of the site.  

6.6 Rural Communities Implications

6.6.1 This development will have sustainable development, including open space 
and a new village centre, at its heart.

6.7 Implications for Children & Young People 

6.7.1 A primary school is proposed as part of new village centre. 

6.8 Public Health Implications

6.8.1 This development will result in job creation and high quality homes. It may 
also result in new care facilities and provision. Completion of the highways 
improvements will minimise congestion.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1 Handforth – Cllr Barry Burkhill and Cllr Dennis Mahon



OFFICIAL

8. Access to Information

8.1 This paper is based upon the following information:

 Local Plan Strategy
 Plan of land ownerships
 Programme
 Emerging SPD & Masterplan

9. Contact Information

9.1 Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following officer:

Name: Kathryn Carr

Job Title: Interim Director Growth and Regeneration

Email: Kathryn.Carr@cheshireeast.gov.uk

mailto:Kathryn.Carr@cheshireeast.gov.uk




Bluebell

P
at

h 
(u

m
)

Pond

P
ath (um

)

Primrose
Cottage

82

Cottage

59

Issues

72

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2017. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

Pond

Pond

Pond

LO
N

G
 M

A
R

L D
R

IV
E

Pond

Track

Pond

Pond

Pond

A
 34

Pond

A
 3

4

Pond

Pond

Pond

FB

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2017. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

75.0m

Subway
SM

75.6m

Def

CF

SM

Boro Const & Met Dist Bdy

Path (um)

Tr
ac

k

Co Const, UA & CP Bdy

76.2m

A 555

Spath Lane

Beech Farm

Well

A
 3

4

SM

76.2m

SM

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2017. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

Co Const, UA & CP Bdy

Blossoms Turkey Farm

Path (um)

Grove-end Farm

BLOSSOMS LANE

82.9m

Blossoms Farm

Fir Trees

Pond

Pond

Track 0.91m RH

Ruin

Pond

Def

Pond

CS

T
rack

83.6m

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2017. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

Pond

Boro Const & M
et Dist Bdy

Playing Field

Pond

83.8m

Co Const, UA & CP Bdy

D
ef

Pond

Tennis Courts

R
H

Ponds

10

A 555

Pond

Government

Pond

Pond

FF

Def

Co Const, UA & CP Bdy1.22m RH

Dairy House Small Holdings

Mast

14

81.2m

13

D
ef

Boro Const & Met Dist Bdy

F
F

FF

16

Pond

Pond

Und

D
ef

Pond

R
H

84.1m

Pond

Pond

D
A

IR
Y

 H
O

U
S

E
 L

A
N

E

El Sub Sta

Issues

Pond

Sports Centre

Ponds

Pond

Ruins

Offices

4

11

Ponds

Pond

Pond

2

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2017. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

12

Longacre

77.4m

Boro Const &

22
a

El Sub Sta

G
RO

VE LANE

4

2

1

32

38

41

189

47

FB

8

195

8

Drain

42

40

HIG
H E

LM
S

36a

2

6

17
6

35a

79.2m

23

24

203

9

Pond

Def

17

175

FB

2b

FB

11

2

17
0

Mast (Telecommunication)

77.1m

M
IL

V
E

R
T

O
N

 D
R

IV
E

49

1.22m RH

a

10

3

3

4

Co Const, UA & CP Bdy

79.2m

20

1

7

17

23

79.6m

Chester's Croft park

Mast (Telecommunication)

17

Vermont Gardens

2c

18

25

36

201

W
ard Bdy

33

S
P

A
TH

 W
A

LK

14

28

2

1

78.3m

153a

46

1

159

A 555

Pond

5

18
8

Def

CS
77.1m

LB

14

31

197

1

37

2

22

Spath Lane

195a

DAIRY HOUSE ROAD

42

17
8

2

SPATH LANE EAST

12

Met Dist Bdy

32

27

FB

15
4

9

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2017. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

Cottage

Roofs

The

87.1m

Pinfold

Barr Green Farm

Pond

Barr Green

Cottage

Red

88.9m

90.3m

0.
91

m
 R

H

Hunters

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2017. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

P
ath (um

)

37

23

52a

Pond

Pond

B
LO

S
S

O
M

S
 L

A
N

E

The Lodge

86.7m

HALL MOSS LANE
46a

FF

86.1m

Nursery

Threeways

Ponds

81.6m

0.91m RH

82.8m

Small Holdings

FF
0.

91
m

Laneside

El Sub Sta

54

Kennels

38

17
Nursery

60

Path (um)

52

85.5m

A 555

Blossoms Barn

Farm

RH

10

Dairy House

Pond

Hall Moss

T
rack

Peartree

R
H

45

Cottage

Pond

83.5m

27

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2017. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

47

78.6m

2

FB

46

Primary School

39

48

18

1

29

33

M
OSS BANK

6

Path (um
)

53

30

1

4

School

43

M
O

SS L
ANE

Moss Hey

Valley

36

80.2m

KENDAL DRIVE

2

D
rain

79.6m

12

2a

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2017. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

Ordnance Survey © Crown copyright 2017.  
All rights reserved. Licence number LIG1024

Scale 1:5,000 (@A2)

0m 50m 100m 200m 300m

Key
Site Boundary

Cheshire East Council 
(80.82ha)

Leased to Cashtal 
from Cheshire East
Council (4.1ha)

Ministry of Defence
(4.34ha)

Unregistered - 
Ministry of Defence 
(1.36ha)

Third Party Land 
Owner (6.92ha)

Third Party Land 
Owner (8.30ha)

Third Party Land 
Owner (2.8ha)

Unregistered 
(5.46ha)

Drawing Title

Drawing Number

Client

Project Title

Revision

Scale Date

North Cheshire Garden Village

Engine of the North

017-002-P003 REV C

Land Ownership

1:5,000 @ A2 November’17

e*SCAPE Job No.

017-002

e*SCAPE
u r b a n i s t s





ID Task Name Duration Start Finish

1 Planning Works 89.2 wksThu 01/03/18 Thu 14/11/19

2 Client Instruction 0 wks Thu 01/03/18 Thu 01/03/18

3 Agree fees/scope of services 4 wks Thu 01/03/18 Wed 28/03/18

4 Prepare geo enviro specifications 37.4 wks Thu 01/03/18 Fri 16/11/18

5 Develop earthworks design 37.4 wks Thu 01/03/18 Fri 16/11/18

6 Develop S278 design (x3) 37.4 wks Thu 01/03/18 Fri 16/11/18

7 Develop S38/S104 design (High Street) 37.4 wks Thu 01/03/18 Fri 16/11/18

8 Develop landscaping design 37.4 wks Thu 01/03/18 Fri 16/11/18

9 Develop bridge design 37.4 wks Thu 01/03/18 Fri 16/11/18

10 Develop ecological mitigation/design 37.4 wks Thu 01/03/18 Fri 16/11/18

11 Develop utilities design 37.4 wks Thu 01/03/18 Fri 16/11/18

12 Commence pre planning application 8 wks Mon 19/11/18 Fri 11/01/19

13 Update scheme design from pre-app 8 wks Mon 19/11/18 Fri 11/01/19

14 Submit hybrid planning application 0 wks Mon 14/01/19 Mon 14/01/19

15 Planning validation period 4 wks Mon 14/01/19 Fri 08/02/19

16 Planning determination period 15.8 wks Mon 11/02/19 Thu 30/05/19

17 Planning determination 0 wks Thu 30/05/19 Thu 30/05/19

18 Discharge planning conditions 24 wks Fri 31/05/19 Thu 14/11/19

19

20 Site Clearance/Enabling Works Package 29 wks Fri 08/03/19 Thu 26/09/19

21 Prepare tender documents 2 wks Fri 08/03/19 Thu 21/03/19

22 Agree tendering contractors 1 wk Fri 15/03/19 Thu 21/03/19

23 Issue tender documents 0 wks Thu 21/03/19 Thu 21/03/19

24 Tender period (6 wks) 6 wks Fri 22/03/19 Thu 02/05/19

25 Tender return 0 wks Thu 02/05/19 Thu 02/05/19

26 Post tender review & analysis (4wks) 4 wks Fri 03/05/19 Thu 30/05/19

27 Issue tender report to EoTN 0 wks Thu 30/05/19 Thu 30/05/19

28 EoTN approval to tender report 1 wk Fri 31/05/19 Thu 06/06/19

29 Appoint contractor 0 wks Thu 06/06/19 Thu 06/06/19

30 Prepare contract documents 1 wk Fri 07/06/19 Thu 13/06/19

31 Sign & execute contract documents 1 wk Fri 14/06/19 Thu 20/06/19

32 Lead-in period (6wks) 6 wks Fri 21/06/19 Thu 01/08/19

33 Site enabling works 8 wks Fri 02/08/19 Thu 26/09/19

34 Enabling works completed 0 wks Thu 26/09/19 Thu 26/09/19

35

36 Earthworks Package 73 wks Fri 14/06/19 Thu 05/11/20

37 Prepare tender documents 2 wks Fri 14/06/19 Thu 27/06/19

38 Agree tendering contractors 1 wk Fri 21/06/19 Thu 27/06/19

39 Issue tender documents 0 wks Thu 27/06/19 Thu 27/06/19

40 Tender period (6 wks) 6 wks Fri 28/06/19 Thu 08/08/19

41 Tender return 0 wks Thu 08/08/19 Thu 08/08/19

42 Post tender review & analysis (4wks) 4 wks Fri 09/08/19 Thu 05/09/19

43 Issue tender report to EoTN 0 wks Thu 05/09/19 Thu 05/09/19

44 EoTN approval to tender report 1 wk Fri 06/09/19 Thu 12/09/19

45 Appoint contractor 0 wks Thu 12/09/19 Thu 12/09/19

46 Prepare contract documents 1 wk Fri 13/09/19 Thu 19/09/19

47 Sign & execute contract documents 1 wk Fri 20/09/19 Thu 26/09/19

48 Lead-in period (6wks) 6 wks Fri 27/09/19 Thu 07/11/19

49 Earthworks period 52 wks Fri 08/11/19 Thu 05/11/20

50 Earthworks completed 0 wks Thu 05/11/20 Thu 05/11/20

51

52 Primary Inf Works (S38/S104/S278) 73 wks Fri 13/09/19 Thu 04/02/21

53 Prepare tender documents 2 wks Fri 13/09/19 Thu 26/09/19

54 Agree tendering contractors 1 wk Fri 20/09/19 Thu 26/09/19

55 Issue tender documents 0 wks Thu 26/09/19 Thu 26/09/19

56 Tender period (6 wks) 6 wks Fri 27/09/19 Thu 07/11/19

57 Tender return 0 wks Thu 07/11/19 Thu 07/11/19

58 Post tender review & analysis (4wks) 4 wks Fri 08/11/19 Thu 05/12/19

59 Issue tender report to EoTN 0 wks Thu 05/12/19 Thu 05/12/19

60 EoTN approval to tender report 1 wk Fri 06/12/19 Thu 12/12/19

61 Appoint contractor 0 wks Thu 12/12/19 Thu 12/12/19

62 Prepare contract documents 1 wk Fri 13/12/19 Thu 19/12/19

63 Sign & execute contract documents 1 wk Fri 20/12/19 Thu 26/12/19

64 Lead-in period (6wks) 6 wks Fri 27/12/19 Thu 06/02/20

65 Primary infastructure works period 52 wks Fri 07/02/20 Thu 04/02/21

66 Primary infastructure works completed 0 wks Thu 04/02/21 Thu 04/02/21

01/03

14/01

30/05

21/03

02/05

30/05

06/06

26/09

27/06

08/08

05/09

12/09

05/11

26/09

07/11

05/12

12/12

04/02

Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Qtr 1

2018 2019 2020 2021

ENGINE OF THE NORTH : THE  GARDEN VILLAGE AT HANDFORTH

HYBRID APPLICATION (DETAILED OUTPUTS) 

19 JULY 2018

Page 1





OFFICIAL

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 11 September 2018

Report Title: Draft Proposed Local and Sub-Regional Arrangements for 
Cheshire East in Relation to the Transition from Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Boards (LSCBs) to Safeguarding 
Partners

Portfolio Holder: Jos Saunders, Portfolio Holder for Children and Families

Senior Officer: Mark Palethorpe, Executive Director of People (Acting)

1. Report Summary

1.1. This report sets out proposed changes for Cheshire East’s Local 
Safeguarding Children Board.

1.2. Following concerns raised by HMGov about the effectiveness of Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) to safeguard children, Child Death 
Overview Arrangements (CDOP) and Serious Case Reviews, Alan Wood 
(Independent Reviewing Officer) was commissioned to conduct a review in 
2016. Subsequently, significant changes to ensure collective accountability 
around safeguarding and promoting the wellbeing of children and young 
people were created by the new Children and Social Work Act 2017. Since 
this there has been a further revision to the Statutory Guidance for Working 
Together to Safeguard Children (2018). 

1.3. This report does not include proposed arrangements in relation to CDOP, 
as the publication of statutory guidance concerning this has been delayed 
until September 2018. 

2. Recommendations

2.1. That Cabinet:

2.1.1 Endorse the work undertaken to date across the four local 
authority areas (Cheshire East, Cheshire West and Chester, 
Halton and Warrington) to develop a model which enhances the 
current sub-regional approach to safeguarding children.



OFFICIAL

2.1.2 Endorse the recommendations to ensure that robust 
arrangements remain in place at a local level to quality assure 
and scrutinise strategy, policy and practice and adherence to 
statutory guidance and multi-agency best practice to safeguard 
children and young people in Cheshire East. 

2.1.3 Agree that existing funding arrangements should remain in place 
for an agreed minimum period (2020-21) whilst funding is 
reviewed, recognising that this would require the agreement of all 
existing funding partners across current LSCB arrangements.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. These recommendations are put forward in order to allow the three 
statutory partners (Council, Police and the CCGs) to continue to work 
together, and with wider partners, to agree a framework that meets the 
statutory requirements outlined in Working Together 2018.

3.2. There is evidence-based good working, both on a Local Authority and Pan-
Cheshire area basis, and a key consideration for all is the need for balance 
between local and pan-Cheshire scrutiny and accountability.

3.3. It is recognised that there is duplication across this footprint and some 
ineffectiveness in the current ways of working with a small number of 
people being repeatedly drawn upon to work at both levels, often with the 
same or similar agenda. Given the current resource challenges, options 
have focused on how these issues could be improved within new 
arrangements.

3.4. The aim is to improve effectiveness and efficiency of the safeguarding 
system, whilst ensuring that good practice and working together at local 
level between agencies is maintained and enhanced further. This is why it is 
recommended that both Local and pan-Cheshire arrangements remain but 
responsibility, accountability and governance is made clearer. This would 
enable appropriate delegation in representation at each level of the 
arrangements to reduce duplication and improve effectiveness.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. Cheshire East could decide to keep all current arrangements as they are. 
This would rely on the other two statutory partners to agree to this. 
Discussions to date have recognised that any changes cannot compromise 
the quality of local quality assurance and scrutiny processes. It is also 
accepted that all four areas currently work across Cheshire and Warrington 
and there is an opportunity here to strengthen this work, without duplicating 
work that takes place at local level.



OFFICIAL

4.2. From a Cheshire East perspective, all partners agree that it is essential to 
make sure local accountability arrangements remain in place. Within this 
context, partners agree that there is an opportunity to build on existing 
strengths and develop a high functioning model which clearly sets out the 
responsibilities at both Local and pan-Cheshire level, where duplication is 
prevented and practice can improve further.

5. Background

5.1. Following the change in legislation, a revised Working Together to 
Safeguard Children 2018 was published on 29th June 2018.

5.2. The three core safeguarding partners (Council, Police and the CCGs) 
across Cheshire East, Halton, Warrington and Cheshire West and Chester 
have been working together to respond to the changes to ensure local and 
pan-Cheshire safeguarding activity is in line with statutory requirements. 

5.3. The revised guidance creates the following key changes and approaches:

a. Three core safeguarding partners – the local authority, the chief officer of 
police for an area that falls with the local authority area, and CCG for an 
area that falls with the local authority area - have the statutory duty to 
make arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of all children in 
that area.  Whilst there will still be a duty to cooperate and engage, the 
revised guidance will not stipulate statutory duties beyond those already in 
legislation for agencies beyond these three core agencies.

b. The safeguarding partners have equal and joint responsibility for the 
safeguarding arrangements and must identify a senior officer in each 
agency to have responsibility for ensuring full collaboration with these 
arrangements.

c. This duty includes the requirement to publish those local arrangements 
and to define who the relevant agencies are who will be expected to work 
to and contribute to the effectiveness of those arrangements. These 
published arrangements will also be open to DfE scrutiny.

d. The arrangements must be subject to independent scrutiny which is for the 
safeguarding partners to agree. The DfE has been clear that areas may 
explore a range of options to implement this scrutiny but that any models 
considered should not involve a person or persons from the local area, 
and/or having prior involvement with one of the key safeguarding partners.

e. The safeguarding partners must publish an annual report every 12 months 
in line with the structure in Working Together 2018. It must also be 
independently scrutinised and published.



OFFICIAL

f. Financing is for the key safeguarding partners to agree and also agree with 
the named relevant agencies. 

g. Working Together 2018 gives flexibility in determining the format of the 
new safeguarding arrangements, including whether they will be on a local 
geographical area or a wider footprint. There is evidence-based good 
working, both on a Cheshire East and pan-Cheshire area basis, and a key 
consideration has been the need for balance between local and Pan 
Cheshire scrutiny and accountability.

h. It was recognised that there is duplication across the wider footprint and 
some ineffectiveness in the current ways of working with a small number of 
people being repeatedly drawn upon to work at both levels, often with the 
same or similar agenda.  Given the current resource challenges, options 
have focused on how these issues could be improved within new 
arrangements.

i. The aim is to improve effectiveness and efficiency of the safeguarding 
system, whilst ensuring that good practice and working together at local 
level between agencies is maintained and enhanced further. This is why it 
is recommended that both Local and Pan-Cheshire arrangements remain 
but responsibility, accountability and governance is made clearer. This 
would enable appropriate delegation in representation at each level of the 
arrangements to reduce duplication and improve effectiveness and share 
learning and best practice.

6. Partnership Working and Pan-Cheshire 

6.1. The decision should enhance already strong partnership arrangements 
across Cheshire East and the four areas. To date, partners have discussed 
how existing strengths could be built on, both at Local and pan-Cheshire 
level and there is agreement on how the necessary safeguarding functions 
could be structured within a framework.

6.2. It has been recognised that some good shared approaches are in existence 
and that the new arrangements should support the continuation of this. In 
particular, complex safeguarding issues (e.g. CSE, trafficked children) are 
already subject of joint policy, tools and campaign development, and are 
strategically monitored at the pan-Cheshire level. Any new arrangements 
would seek to ensure that accountability and governance of these areas 
should sit under a sub-regional safeguarding group that sits as part of an 
overall sub-regional governance and accountability framework and be an 
enhancer to local priorities and arrangements. 



OFFICIAL

6.3. It is proposed that key sub-regional activity is addressed via three core 
areas of focus - strategic, policy and practice. These are set out at 
Appendix 1.

7. Local Area Arrangements

7.1. Whilst there is a desire to work in partnership across the sub-region, it is 
recognised that due to specific organisational accountability, regulatory 
frameworks (e.g. Ofsted) and the need to ensure strong scrutiny and 
challenge and responsiveness regarding safeguarding practice at local 
level, robust local arrangements need to be maintained. It is therefore 
proposed that local arrangements have the same three areas of focus, with 
specific responsibilities, as highlighted in Appendix 1.

7.2. In Cheshire East local partners have commenced work on developing a 
model (Appendix 2) and are liaising with the pan-Cheshire developments as 
there are interdependencies. This work is supported by the current Local 
Safeguarding Children Board. 

8. Independent Scrutiny

8.1. Working Together 2018 states that there has to be independent scrutiny of 
safeguarding arrangements and there is some guidance as to who could 
undertake this role. 

8.2. If agreed, Cheshire East will develop their own local arrangements, building 
on existing ones, with the aim of strengthening them further.  During the 
detailed development work, consideration will be given to how independent 
scrutiny should be best utilised, including the use of peer reviews involving 
other safeguarding partners outside of the area.  

9. Structure and Governance arrangements

9.1. Development work will include how a pan-Cheshire model could operate to 
support localised safeguarding arrangements. These developments have 
been coordinated by the ‘Protecting Vulnerable People’ Group, which looks 
to the sub-regional Management Board. Discussions to date have noted 
existing sub-regional arrangements and whether these could be adapted in 
order to oversee a pan-Cheshire arrangement. Although further work is 
needed on this, there seems to be a general consensus that existing 
arrangements could be reviewed and adapted in order to meet future 
safeguarding requirements both at sub-regional and local level. Therefore it 
is recommended that further work is undertaken by the Council and its 
partners on this over the forthcoming months.



OFFICIAL

9.2. Within this work, existing terms of reference, and membership would need 
to be reviewed and revised to ensure there are appropriate representation, 
scrutiny and accountability of any pan-Cheshire arrangements. 

9.3. In the light of the publication of ‘Working Together 2018, there is also an 
opportunity to review the remit of the current local sub groups across all 
areas and refine the areas covered under the title “contextual 
safeguarding.” 

9.4. To support the oversight and administration of the pan-Cheshire work, 
administration support and business performance/analysis would need to 
be agreed. 

9.5. Within a sub-regional framework, a local model would still be required to 
oversee the local scrutiny and quality assurance activity. Partner agencies 
would need be to fully involved in this. It is noted that different models for 
each area may emerge as each area has its own differences. However, it is 
anticipated that dedicated administration support and performance analysis 
will continue to be required. The initial partnership thinking in Cheshire East 
in respect of this is represented in Appendix 2.

9.6. With regard to governance, local accountability is key, as well as pan-
Cheshire visibility. Subject to agreement, if a pan-Cheshire arrangement 
was formalised, there would need to be a clear framework, detailing 
accountability at all levels and from each statutory partner. The connection 
between Local and pan-Cheshire arrangements would need to be 
considered, where ultimate accountability is made clear and is in line with 
statutory guidance. 

10.   Managing the Transition - Timeframe

10.1. Statutory Guidance requires the publication of local arrangements by the 
29th June 2019. The transition to the new arrangements must be completed 
by 29th September 2019. Cheshire East is currently on course to meet these 
requirements.

10.2. Further work will consider whether to maintain current arrangements into 
2019, with a view to moving forward with transition activity from then. 
Alternatively, subject to completion of preparatory work, new arrangements 
could commence in April 2019 on condition that consultation on a Local and 
pan-Cheshire arrangement is completed by September 2019. This would 
allow a period of shadow arrangements to enable a smooth transition and 
ensure that all risk areas are effectively managed. Both options would need 
further consideration by partners and scrutiny by the Council.



OFFICIAL

11. Implications of the Recommendations

11.1. Legal Implications

11.1.1. The Children and Social Work Act 2017 makes clear that it is no 
longer a statutory requirement for areas to have Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Boards.  It is up to the three key statutory partners 
(Council, CCG and Police) to determine what local arrangements 
should be. These partners are to determine who other relevant 
partners are. 

11.1.2. Whatever arrangements are agreed moving forward, independent 
scrutiny of safeguarding is still required.

11.2. Finance Implications

11.2.1. The current funding arrangements are complex and have developed 
over time. In order to support the transition and development of a 
new structure, there is a need to ensure and maintain current funding 
in Cheshire East. Therefore it is recommended existing funding 
arrangements are maintained for an agreed minimum period (2020-
21), with a view to reviewing funding once transition is progressed. 
This means that all existing funding arrangements across the LSCB 
would continue.  The three safeguarding partners will be responsible 
for ensuring that expenditure is managed within the budget envelope 
available.

11.2.2. The aim would be to develop a model of support that services local 
delivery of safeguarding functions and pan-Cheshire activity with no 
additional costs compared to current arrangements. This will require 
consideration of key functions to be met and the resources to be 
targeted to the specific needs of the arrangements to ensure 
effective use of the resources made available.  

11.3. Policy Implications

11.3.1. There are sub-regional and local policy implications and these are 
set out at Appendix 1 and Appendix 2, respectively.  

11.3.2. There is currently a proposal for the four CCG that cover the 
Cheshire area to merge by April 2020. This is not expected to impact 
on the transition as all of these areas are currently engaged in 
discussions concerning future arrangements.



OFFICIAL

11.4. Equality Implications

11.4.1. This approach will continue to prioritise children and young people 
and ensure appropriate arrangements are in place that scrutinise and 
quality assure safeguarding arrangements both in Cheshire East and 
the sub-region. By further strengthening work at both Local and Pan-
Cheshire level, all vulnerable children and their families will get the 
help and support they need to improve their life chances, whilst also 
ensuring that the children identified are safe and protected.

11.5. Human Resources Implications

11.5.1. To support the oversight and administration of the pan-Cheshire 
work, administrative support and business performance/analysis 
would need to be agreed. 

11.6. Risk Management Implications

11.6.1. There is a risk that the quality of scrutiny and quality assurance 
would be compromised if arrangements are changed in light of the 
new Act. However, all partners have agreed clear principles that 
must be adhered to when considering any future changes. Any 
changes need to enhance and further strengthen partnership working 
and safeguarding practice and the priority has to be on safety and 
protection at all times.

11.6.2. A second risk is that wider partners will not agree with any proposed 
changes. This risk will be mitigated by taking a fully inclusive 
approach to this work.

11.6.3. A third risk is that there may be delay in developing a local and Pan-
Cheshire model in the timeframes set. The aim is that this will be 
mitigated by setting up a working group with appropriate 
administrative and project management support. This is currently 
being discussed between the three statutory partners. A local 
planning group within Cheshire East partners compliments this work 
to focus on local arrangements.

11.6.4. A fourth risk is the financial implications of setting up and operating a 
new model. This will be mitigated by the working group addressing all 
financial matters so it is clear what the expectations would be on all 
partners who have safeguarding responsibility.



OFFICIAL

11.7. Rural Communities Implications

11.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

11.8. Implications for Children & Young People 

11.8.1. These proposals aim to strengthen sub-regional safeguarding to 
make children safer.

11.9. Public Health Implications

11.9.1. The proposed transitional arrangements from the LSCB to the 
safeguarding partners is not expected to impact on Public Health.  
However, there are some implications for Public Health in relation to 
changes in the Child Death Overview arrangements. It is not possible 
to include proposals in this report as the publication of statutory 
guidance concerning these arrangements has been delayed until 
September 2018.

12.Ward Members Affected

12.1.1. As children and young people who need safeguarding live across 
Cheshire East, all wards are affected by this proposal.

13.Consultation & Engagement

13.1.1. Consultation and engagement will take place with relevant 
stakeholders, as appropriate.

14.Access to Information

14.1.1. Further information is available as follows:

a. Children and Families Social Work Act 2017:
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/contents/enacted 

b. The Wood Review:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/526329/Alan_Wood_review.pdf 

c. Working Together to Safeguard Children’s 2018:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-
safeguard-children--2 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/526329/Alan_Wood_review.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/526329/Alan_Wood_review.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


OFFICIAL

15.Contact Information

15.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Nigel Moorhouse

Job Title: Director of Children’s Social Care

Email: nigel.moorhouse@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

mailto:nigel.moorhouse@cheshireeast.gov.uk


 

OFFICIAL 
1 

Appendix 1  

Proposed Sub-Regional Arrangements 
 

It is proposed that local and Pan-Cheshire activity is managed via three core areas of focus.  
  

Strategic Local Arrangements  Strategic Pan-Cheshire  

• Consistent, coherent information on all of 
the local work strands within the business 
plan; including action where work is not 
meeting targets and respond and contribute 
to Pan-Cheshire arrangements.   

• Effective budget management through 
regular monitoring of expenditure against 
priorities and/or targets. 

• Annual Report on the local effectiveness. 
• Effective partnership relationships based on 

the requirement of the duty to co-operate 
and work together and the role and 
contribution of relevant agencies. 

• Agree/publish local safeguarding 
performance framework within the context of 
the national priorities and best practice and 
to implement a business plan which reflects 
those priorities. 

• Agree/publish arrangements for local 
independent scrutiny. 

• Establish a strategic business plan with 
some consideration given to “contextual 
safeguarding”.  

• Delegate sub-groups responsibility for 
establishing targets for improvements 
and implementation of action plans.  

• Establish robust performance 
information framework, that provides 
relevant and timely quantitative, 
qualitative and outcome evaluation. 

• Receive expert and/or professional 
advice as appropriate on emerging 
national initiatives, policy and guidance 
and act upon this 

• Consider the involvement of Pan-
Cheshire relevant agencies such as 
NPS, CRC, CAFCASS and the Youth 
Justice Service. 

 

Practice Local Arrangements Practice Pan-Cheshire 

• Identify priorities for local practice arising 
from SCRs, Practice Learning Reviews and 
multi-agency audits, and monitor evidence of 
progress. 

• Identify learning from local cases and 
cascade learning to the workforce.   

• Co-ordinate multi-agency audits and cascade 
learning to the workforce.  

• Ensure themes from multi-agency audits are 
disseminated to single agencies for them to 
consider in their internal audits.  

• Maintain oversight of the relevant action 
plans to reduce numbers of children who go 
missing and to prevent the sexual 
exploitation and/or trafficking of children.  

• Identify and consider cases meeting 
Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) criteria 
and consider any themes or issues 
from national SCRs. 

• Identify cases where lessons can be 
learned but don’t meet the SCR criteria. 

• Receive summary reports and action 
plans from single agency audits.   

• Develop and maintain the Learning & 
Improvement Framework ensuring it 
takes account of national/local learning 
requirements.  

• Provide a leadership regarding the 
scrutiny role of safeguarding activities 
across partners so that areas of good 
practice can be shared and promoted. 

• Co-ordinate the strategic response on 
complex and contextual safeguarding – 



 

OFFICIAL 

CSE, Missing, Harmful Practices, 
Trafficked Children, Domestic Abuse, 
Organised Crime.  

 

Policy Local Arrangements Policy Pan-Cheshire 

• Align existing learning/ development streams 
to optimise access across partner 
agencies/stakeholders, avoiding duplication 
of delivery and effort 

• Develop local protocols on key issues of 
concern, as agreed by the board  

• Quality assure partners’ policies and 
procedures  

• Take instruction from the board on areas of 
performance requiring in-depth examination 
and undertake this work 

• Design/ implement publicity, 
communication and training so that the 
arrangements promote consistent 
messages across the footprint on any 
issues of regional relevance.   

• Identify new national policies, 
procedures, guidance and research 
findings. 

• Receive, review, agree, implement, 
promote and where appropriate 
develop policies and safeguarding 
procedures  

• Analyse the implications of new local 
policy, procedures or guidance 

 
 



 

OFFICIAL 
1 

Appendix 2 

Cheshire East Safeguarding Partnership Proposed Model 
 

It is proposed that Cheshire East Safeguarding Partnership Board has the following 

membership: 

 Safeguarding Partners 
 Cheshire Police 
 Clinical Commissioning Group 
 Cheshire East Council 

 

 Relevant agencies on the 
partnership board 
 Education 
 Voluntary/Faith Sector 

 
 

 Other Relevant Agencies  
 Probation 
 Youth Justice Service 
 CRC 
 CAFCASS 
 Fire 

 
 Early Years 
 Prison 
 NHS Providers 
 Care Providers 
 Public Health 

 
All the Safeguarding Partners and Relevant Agencies will be expected to: 

 safeguard and promote the welfare of local children 

 work in a collaborative way to provide targeted support to children and families as 
appropriate 

 relevant agencies must act in accordance with the local arrangements 

 make payments towards expenditure incurred in conjunction with local arrangements 
 

 



 

OFFICIAL 

 

A number of tasks could also be conducted on a pan-Cheshire basis, reporting into the local 
arrangements.  The details of this are subject to further work, but initial thoughts are that this 
could include:   
 

 Serious Case Reviews  

 s.11/s175/157 audits  

 Communications/campaigns/policies and procedures where a shared approach has 
been agreed. 

 
 



OFFICIAL
1

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 11 September 2018

Report Title: European Social Fund Sub-Regional Bid for Intensive Supported 
Employment Provision

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Jos Saunders/ Councillor Janet Clowes 

Senior Officer: Mark Palethorpe - Acting Executive Director Peoples Services

1. Report Summary

1.1. In 2017 the Cheshire & Warrington LEP informed the Sub-Regional 
Leaders Board that there was a substantial amount of funding £28.9m of 
structural investment money still to be allocated and spent. The remaining 
funding would be available up to 2021 with calls submitted for collaborative 
funding bids during June and July 2018.  

1.2. There is a specific grant available of £5.4m from the Department of Work 
and Pensions and the Cheshire and Warrington LEP.   This report asks 
permission for the Public Sector Transformation Team hosted by Cheshire 
East Council, to bid for the available resources on behalf of the three 
Councils and partners in the sub-region through a direct call from the LEP.  

1.3. The report outlines the work that has taken place to date across the 
Cheshire and Warrington Sub Region to gain support for a sub regional bid, 
its co-design, target intensive supported employment services embedded 
with Leaving Care, SEND Transition teams, Mental Health and Troubled 
Families services to support the most complex individuals to get closer to 
work. This is also requiring each of the three Local Authorities to identify 
and confirm the availability of 50% in-kind matched that suits the needs of 
their local demands and pressures (Cheshire West and Chester, Cheshire 
East and Warrington).  

1.4. Social Finance Ltd have been commissioned to support the sub regional 
partnership to develop and write the bid in line with the proposed 
timescales outlined below:  



OFFICIAL

Direct call for bids via LEP & DWP 13th July 18
Initial Applications to be submitted 
via Cheshire East Council as lead 
accountable body for the Public 
Sector Transformation Plan

w/c 13 September 18

Full bid  applications to be worked 
up and submitted 

December 2018

DWP approve successful bids for 
deliver

March 2019

Cheshire East Cabinet to accept 
the grant on behalf of the Sub-
Region including delegation to 
authorise expenditure to the 
Executive Director for People’s 
services as Chair of the Public 
Sector Transformation Board 

April 2019

Delivery Board to be Established 
representing all match funding 
agencies 

April 2019

1.5 The opportunity to bolster existing supported employment provision for 
those in greatest need, notably from those service users and clients 
who are open to Children and Adults services will be a one- off and 
unique opportunity to reduce pressure and demand on Council 
services by promoting routes to independence and self support.

1.6 There is a positive appetite across all three LAs to maximise resource 
in this area, learning the lessons from previous rounds of ESF funding 
which have often been defined nationally and delivered by external 
managing agencies or prime contractors who have not embedded 
services within existing provision where the need is and where the 
people are currently managed.

2. Recommendations

2.1 To agree the bid application for the funding and delegate authority to 
the Acting Director Executive Director Peoples Services to accept the 
grant and manage the programme should we be successful.  

2.2 To support the sub-regional proposal for a bid submission via direct call 
under Lots 1.2 and 1.4. in line with the proposed timeline for bid 
submissions subject to appropriate Supplementary Revenue Estimate 
when required.



OFFICIAL
3

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. The proposed bid, if successful, will be significant to enhance support 
services to Cheshire East, Cheshire West and Chester and Warrington’s 
most vulnerable customers bringing in much needed additional revenue to 
the region for targeted tailored support.  

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. Co-financing option with Education and Skills Funding Agency – this would 
require no match from Local Authorities but would limit the ability to shape 
the offer for customers to local priorities, resulting in a more national 
generic specification for the sub region and limited ability to influence local 
priorities. There is also concern amongst the partnership that the co-
financing option will undermine work undertaken locally the direction that is 
supported strategically by Leaders Board.    

4.2. To reject the opportunity to bid for the opportunity to bid for £5.4M 
additional resources – however in the climate of reducing revenue grant for 
LA’s this opportunity offers a substantial opportunity to support and offer 
independence in a way that has not been afforded previously.

5. Background

5.1. The Public Service Transformation Team started discussions across the 
sub region in autumn 2017 to test the appetite for a sub regional bid for 
resources from the ESF programme to enhance the employability skills and 
opportunities for the most vulnerable individuals across the Cheshire and 
Warrington sub region.  Simultaneously, discussions started with the 
Cheshire and Warrington Into Work Board, whose purpose is to lead on the 
sub regional co-ordination of both existing programmes and new delivery 
routes which help people in Cheshire and Warrington to get jobs and 
employment, focusing on those who are furthest away from the job market.  
This approach was subsequently endorsed by the Board and they have 
continued to provide oversight and direction to the process.  

5.2. In June 2018 Social Finance facilitated two workshops across Cheshire and 
Warrington with a broad range of local authority representatives to begin to 
co-design the application, exploring in detail: the background to the ESF 
guidance for Lots 1.2 and 1.4; identification of the target cohorts and; co-
design of the service delivery model in each local authority. 



OFFICIAL

5.3. The target cohorts agreed as part of the workshops include:

 Lot 1.2:  Young people aged 15-25 years - specifically those Not in 
Education, Employment or Training (NEETs), Special Educational 
Needs and Disability (SEND), Looked After Children (LAC) and Care 
Leavers.  

 Lot 1.4:  Disadvantaged adults who face particular barriers to work – 
specifically complex individuals and families who do not meet the 
Troubled Families threshold, people with long term disabilities, 
mental health conditions and homelessness. 

5.4. Feedback from the Into Work Board indicates there is a desire from both 
the LEP and DWP for local bids as they will have the ability to be shaped to 
local priorities, meet local demand and provide a strong co-ordinated 
approach that compliments existing programmes and priorities locally.  

5.5. 1-2-1 sessions have taken place, facilitated by the Public Service 
Transformation Team across each authority to work up the specific detail 
around cohorts and the 50% in-kind match contribution and memorandums 
of understanding are currently being developed to firm up the in-kind 
commitment for the bid submission up to 2021.  

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. The Council’s Finance and Procedure Rules (FPRs 6.26) require that 
appropriate Member approval be sought prior to submitting a bid for 
funding. 

6.1.2. Officers must ensure that they understand and are aware of the grant 
conditions attaching to any funding and consider whether the Council’s 
processes and procedures are sufficient to comply with these conditions 
or whether more detailed processes need to be followed. Therefore 
where prior approval is obtained to submit a bid and the bid is then 
submitted and accepted, then at that stage a review of the legal 
implications of both the offered funding conditions and consideration of 
the terms of the proposed joint working shall be required, and any 
necessary  approvals sought as appropriate for agreeing and entering 
into those arrangements.

6.1.3. The Council needs to be satisfied that appropriate performance 
management arrangements are in place to meet compliance standards of 



OFFICIAL
5

the Technical ESF regulation and terms of funding.  The eligibility of in-
kind service contributions will need to be satisfied as the initial bid 
document is constructed.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. The ESF programme creates an opportunity for the Cheshire and 
Warrington sub-region to lever in an additional £5.4m income over 3 
years for support services for vulnerable people.  This required 
identification of 50% match in-kind resource from the 3 local authorities. 
Approximately £1.7m per local authority spread across 3 years of in kind 
activity.  A detailed breakdown will be developed for the bid, based on 
population size for each authority via the creation of a Memorandum of 
Understanding to describes the appropriate areas of in-kind service 
match funding across the Peoples Directorate Service budget areas.  
Notably this does not commit the Council to any additional expenditure or 
financial commitment, rather it offers a way to mitigate cost pressures 
specifically  in adults and children’s services.   

6.2.2. Once the outcome of the bid is known the grant conditions will be 
assessed.  The appropriate financial treatment will then be applied to the 
funds that will be received, for example a Supplementary Revenue 
Estimate may be completed.

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. The bidding process will fall in line with all corporate policies and 
processes as it effects Financial Management, Audit, Data Management 
and security controls in line with Cheshire East Corporate policy. 

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. The development of this bid will put additional resources in to people 
who present the greatest vulnerability, this will include people with 
disabilities including those with Special Educational Needs, Mental 
Health, Young People, Women, BME people, LGBTQ people and those 
people who have complex and multiple challenges.

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. None at the stage of developing the bid for submission

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. A full risk assessment will be compiled against the bid as it transfers 
through the approval process.



OFFICIAL

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. Rural communities will be specifically targeted. 

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People 

6.8.1. Children and Young People will be specifically supported should the 
bid be successful as we will offer this as an entitlement to our Looked 
After Children as they transition in to adulthood with the intensive support 
service to offer them as part of their agreed care plan or Education, 
Health Care Plan.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are many positive implications for public health as the projects 
proposed seek to specifically address poor Mental Health and self 
esteem in the out of work population through an introduction to positive 
work and volunteering experiences.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. All Wards should benefit from the bid should it be successful.

8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1. At this bid development stage of the process, consultation and engagement 
has taken place across the three Local Authorities via the sub regional Into 
Work Board and Cheshire & Warrington Leaders Board.  As the bid 
documents care developed in detail, further consultation will be undertaken 
with Officers and Lead members across partner organisations.

9. Access to Information

9.1. Not applicable.

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Sonia Bassey

Job Title: Deputy Programme Director 

Email: Sonia.bassey@cheshireeast.gov.uk



OFFICIAL

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 11 September 2018

Report Title: Public Health England: Innovation Fund for Children of Alcohol 
Dependent Parents 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Liz Wardlaw, Health                                        
Councillor Jos Saunders, Children and Families                                                             
Councillor Paul Bates, Finance and Communication  

Senior Officer: Mark Palethorpe, Acting Executive Director of People

1. Report Summary

1.1. Public Health England (PHE) is seeking expressions of interest from local 
authorities that specifically targets systems and services which support 
children of dependent drinkers and alcohol dependent parents.  Successful 
applicants will be able to draw down a revenue grant to support their work 
over the period 2018-19 to 2020-21.

1.2. A funding bid from Cheshire East Council would support priorities within the 
existing Substance Misuse Service and our vision is to achieve improved 
outcomes for local residents through an ambitious project which breaks 
down barriers, and facilitates integration across specialist alcohol treatment 
and social care services.  

1.3. If the bid was successful a total of £561,000 would be awarded to the 
Council over from November 2018 to March 2021.

1.4. The Public Health England: Innovation fund supports Outcome 5 – People 
Live Well for Longer, through improved recovery and health outcomes for 
individuals who are alcohol dependent and their families including children 
and young people.



OFFICIAL

2. Recommendations

2.1. Cabinet approves: 

2.1.1 the submission of a bid to the Public Health England: Innovation fund for 
children of alcohol dependent parents;

2.1.2 the revenue funding of £561,000 to be transferred to the Council as the 
accountable body if the bid is successful;

2.2 Cabinet authorises Officers to submit funding bids for the remaining 
financial year, and to return to Members if bids are successful.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. To enable Cheshire East Council to submit a bid for the Public Health 
England: Innovation fund for children of alcohol dependent parents. 
Funding would support additional service provision via the existing 
contracted Substance Misuse Service in Cheshire East.

3.2. There is strong evidence of local need to support children of alcohol 
dependent parents in Cheshire East for example:
o There are an estimated 1324 children in Cheshire East who live with an 

alcohol dependent adult, and 219 children living with an adult in alcohol 
treatment.  

o Alcohol was identified in 22.4% of Children in Need cases in Cheshire 
East, compared to 20% regionally and 18% nationally. 

o Of the 174 children in Cheshire East who are cared for, Alcohol and 
substance misuse is a significant factor in 76 cases.

3.3. As a result of a bid to Public Health England, a project would be developed 
to deliver results through integrated systems and collaboration, developing 
early intervention, clear identification, and referral routes across :
o Cheshire East contracted Substance Misuse Service;
o Cheshire East Council Family Focus (Troubled Families) programme;
o Cheshire East Council Consultation Service (ChECS) and;
o Cheshire East contracted Carers Hub.  

3.4. Key outcomes will include improved early intervention and prevention; 
sustained recovery outcomes for alcohol dependent adults; and a reduction 
in the level of hidden harm on Children and Young People as a result of 
parental alcohol misuse. The project will also reduce complex health needs 
within our population, reducing isolation whilst reducing stigma, through 
education and myth busting.



OFFICIAL

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. To not submit a bid for additional funding via the Public Health England: 
Innovation fund.  The existing Cheshire East Substance Misuse Service 
has recently been recommissioned, and the new service is due to go live 
on the 1st November.  The recommissioned service has a greater focus on 
recovery, and a whole family approach and the hidden harm and impact on 
the wider family, including children and young people.  Therefore support 
will be provided for children impacted by parents with alcohol dependent 
parents via the existing contracted service.  However the additional funding 
via the external bid would provide additional capacity, a greater focus and 
increased impact. 

5. Background

5.1. Public Health England have identified that there is a strong case for 
identifying and supporting many more of the estimated 200,000 children 
living with adults who are dependent drinkers nationally.  The  Public 
Health England: Innovation fund for children of alcohol dependent 
parents, has been developed in response to this need nationally, which 
includes:
o Parental separation is experienced more commonly in children 

whose parents are dependent on alcohol. 61 per cent of children’s 
parents had separated where the mother was dependent and in 
three-quarters of cases in which both parents were dependent, this 
compared with only a quarter of cases where there was no 
dependency.  

o The Department for Education’s Children in Need census showed 
that in 2016/17, alcohol use was assessed as a factor in 18% of 
parental separation cases.

o Between 2011 and 2014 parental alcohol misuse was recorded as a 
factor in 37 per cent of cases where a child was seriously hurt or 
killed, often alongside domestic violence and mental ill health.

o Children of parents with an alcohol dependency are more likely to 
become dependent themselves in later life.

5.2. Exposure to frequent, intense, and poorly-resolved inter-parental conflict 
leads to poor outcomes for children including damage to their education, 
employment, and health. Evidence shows that parental conflict puts 
children at higher risk of negative outcomes, whether families are together 
or separated, alcohol dependence can exacerbate levels of parental 
conflict.  



OFFICIAL

5.3. Early intervention in a parent’s problematic alcohol use brings opportunities 
to address the impacts of the use upon children. Effective joint-working 
between children’s services and alcohol services, combined with effective 
identification and interventions have been shown to minimise the longer 
term impact of parental alcohol use on a child’s future health and wellbeing.

5.4. A funding bid from Cheshire East Council to the Public Health England: 
Innovation fund, would support the development of a specific project to 
identify a specific cohort of Children and Young People whose parents are 
alcohol dependent.  The project will deliver targeted interventions, taking a 
‘whole family’ approach addressing hidden harm.  

5.5. The project would be delivered via the existing Cheshire East contracted 
Substance Misuse Service, and will be embedded within the Cheshire East 
Family Focus Programme. A wider programme of community prevention 
and education, training, coaching and awareness rising will be delivered to 
facilitate identification, build a wider public health workforce and referrals to 
the SMS including: Children’s Social Care; Adults Social Care; Carers Hub; 
Schools; Early Years settings, Housing, Domestic Abuse and Hospitals.

5.6. A contract modification would be undertaken for the existing Substance 
Misuse Service contract, following procurement regulations.

5.7. The project would be led by a Family Focus Alcohol Lead post employed by 
the Substance Misuse Service, and co-located with the Family Focus 
Programme.  The post would coordinate the development of processes, 
systems and interventions that would become embedded and sustainable 
within the Substance Misuse Service provision from year 3 onwards.  A 
Social Worker would be seconded to the Substance Misuse Service to 
support shared learning.  Whole Family Recovery Coordinators would be 
employed by the Substance Misuse Service to take the lead on the delivery 
of targeted interventions to alcohol dependent adults and their children.  
Targeted interventions will align to the Cheshire East ‘Parenting Pathway’, 
specific interventions: pregnancy, 0-1 age group and so on.  Parents and 
their children (at risk of going into care) will be prioritised.  This will create a 
team around the family approach with aspirations of step down.  All posts 
identified within the bid submission are fixed term posts.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1 In accordance with the Council’s Finance Procedure Rules, approval 
needs to be sought prior to submitting a bid for grant funding where the 



OFFICIAL

funding is aligned with the Council’s priorities. Approval for an in 
principle Supplementary Revenue Estimate needs to be sought at the 
same time. 

6.1.2 Any modification of the Substance Misuse Service contract to include 
the services to be delivered as a result of this additional funding needs 
to comply with Regulation 72 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 
Regulation 72 sets out the limited circumstances whereby a  contract 
which is subject to the Regulations can be modified. 

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1 If successful, the bid would provide £561,000 of additional funding to 
the existing Substance Misuse Service contract from November 2018 
to March 2021.

6.2.2 Funding would be provided from Public Health England to the Council.  
This funding would be transferred to the provider of the Cheshire East 
Substance Misuse Service via their existing contract. The contract will 
be modified to vary the value and to include the new outcomes.

6.2.3 As the funding is not permanent any staff recruited to posts that are 
funded by this grant would be recruited on a Fixed term basis. Fixed 
terms posts will end at the end of the project with the aim that systems 
and processes will become embedded, sustainable and business as 
usual.  An exit strategy will support this approach. 

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1 There are no local policy implications for the submission of a bid to the 
Public Health England: Innovation fund for children of alcohol 
dependent parents.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken for the 
recommissioning of the existing Substance Misuse Service.

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1 A recruitment process would be undertaken by the Substance Misuse 
Service provider for fixed term posts over the 2 years.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1 The Substance Misuse Service will be subject to contract management 
processes aligned to their existing contract, to ensure the successful 
delivery of the service in Cheshire East.



OFFICIAL

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1 There are no direct implications for rural communities.  This service will 
be available across the Borough of Cheshire East.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People 

6.8.1 This service will have a positive impact on outcomes for local Children 
and Young People living in Cheshire East, who live with and alcohol 
dependent parent.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1 There will be positive health and recovery impacts for individuals who 
are alcohol dependent living in Cheshire East.  There will also be 
positive mental health and wellbeing impacts for family members and 
particularly children and young people living with alcohol dependent 
parents.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. All Ward Members.  This service will be available across the Borough of 
Cheshire East.

8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1. This project is a development of the existing Substance Misuse Service, 
which has been fully coproduced with service users and their families, 
including children and young people.  

8.2. A project group with Service User representatives will continue the 
coproduction approach and will meet regularly to review and inform the 
development of the project.  Future coproduction and engagement of local 
Service Users and CYP will include:
o Service User Forum;
o Service User Journey;
o CE Young Council;
o Carers Hub;
o My Voice Children in Care Council;
o CE Children and Young People Participation Network;
o CE Connected Communities – engagement via 17 Neighbourhood 

Partnerships and 30+ Connected Communities Centres. 



OFFICIAL

9. Access to Information

9.1. The Cheshire East People Live Well for Longer Commissioning Plan.

9.2. The Cheshire East Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

9.3. Public Health England: Innovation fund for children of alcohol dependent 
parents – Guidance documents

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer: 

Name: Shelley Brough

Job Title: Head of Integrated Commissioning

Email: shelley.brough@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

mailto:shelley.brough@cheshireeast.gov.uk




OFFICIAL

Cabinet Report

Date of Meeting:  11th September 2018

Report Title: Re-Procurement of Food Contracts for Fresh Produce and 
 Multi-temperature Food (i.e. Frozen and Grocery Products)

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Jos Saunders, Children and Families 

Senior Officer: Mark Palethorpe, Acting Executive Director of People 

1. Report Summary

1.1.Cheshire East Catering is a successful service provider delivering a high 
quality catering service to Cheshire East Schools; around 100 schools in 
total. The two contracts concerned relate to the purchasing of food items 
which are used primarily in the preparation of school meals. 

1.2.The Catering service currently holds a Gold, Soil Association accreditation for 
the food served within schools.  To maintain this standard,  the produce must 
be sourced from the NW region where possible providing Seasonal, Organic, 
Sustainable, Free Range, Traceable and Healthy foods in line with the 
Councils’ priority of supporting children and their families to live long, healthy 
and successful lives.

1.3.This report is concerned with the contract for “Fresh Produce” i.e. fruit, 
vegetables, milk and bread, and additionally the contract for “Multi-
temperature food” i.e. frozen and grocery items.

1.4.Currently the provision for Fresh Produce is contracted to one organisation - 
Ron Chalker (The Potato Man) Ltd. The current provision for Multi-
temperature food is contracted to a single company -  A.F. Blakemore trading 
as Blakemore Foodservice.

1.5.The Fresh Produce contract commenced on 1 March 2014 and has a 
maximum term, including extensions, to 28 February 2019. The Multi 
temperature contract commenced on 1 October 2014 and has a maximum 
term to 30 September 2019.

1.6.The desire from the Service is to draw upon other successful contractual 
models and to split the delivery region into “Lots”, to enable smaller suitably 
qualified businesses (SMEs) to tender for these provisions and therefore to 
support the local economy.



OFFICIAL

1.7.The new Fresh Produce contract term is proposed to run from February 2019 
for an initial two or three year period with options to extend for further periods 
each of 12 months. The current annual spend on this contract is £785k 
making a total new contract value over the six year term of £4.71m, as such 
this is classed as a Key Decision.

1.8.The new Multi-temperature contract term is proposed to run from September 
2018 for an initial three years with options to extend for a further three 
periods each of 12 months. The current annual spend on this contract is 
approximately £1.2m, making a total new contract value over the proposed 
full term of £7.2m, as such this is classed as a Key Decision.

1.9.The Corporate Procurement Unit has researched the procurement options 
currently available and advises the Council to run its own EU-compliant 
tender processes (as two separate procedures).

1.10 As requested by CLT when the single contract for Fresh Produce was 
tabled, this report has now been considered through the Procurement & 
Commissioning Board.

2. Recommendations

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet approve the request to progress the re-
tendering processes in line with EU compliant procedures.

2.2 It is recommended that Cabinet delegate authority to the Director of People  
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Children & Families, to award 
contracts to the highest scoring bidders by lot following evaluations. 

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. Financial regulations as set out within the revised constitution and Finance 
and Contract Procedure Rules require Cabinet to approve decisions 
involving expenditure of over £1m.

3.2   To ensure that the Council obtains maximum value for money and to 
ensure robust, compliant contract(s) are awarded for fresh produce and 
frozen/grocery items.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. An alternative would be to extend the existing contracts but this would not 
provide the opportunity to negotiate prices, current prices are inhibiting the 
financial position of the service.



OFFICIAL

4.2. Procurements via framework agreements have been considered however, 
this would mean separate contracts for each type of product.

5. Background

5.1 These contracts relates to the to the supply and delivery of items of: fresh 
fruit, vegetables, salad ingredients, prepared vegetables, milk and bread 
products and frozen ; as required for use in Primary Schools and High 
Schools and other Catering Establishments in the preparation of meals / 
catering requirements within the Cheshire East region.

5.2 The service wish to encourage smaller locally based providers to supply 
Fresh Produce and Multi-temperature food items, this is in line with the 
Governments School Food Plan and Cheshire East Council’s corporate plan 
goals, for this reason the procurements have been divided into regional lots.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. The existing contracts allow for extensions and these have been agreed 
and ratified in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.

6.1.2. The value of the contracts requires that re-procurements be in 
accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Council’s 
own Contract Procedure Rules.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. The value of the existing fresh produce contract running from 1st March 
2014 – 28th February 2019 will be approximately £3,925,000.  

6.2.2. The fresh produce contract has been fully extended to February 2019 
and cannot be extended any further.

6.2.3. The new fresh produce contract value is potentially £4.71m over six 
years from February 2019.  

6.2.4. Multi-temperature spend is currently £1.2m per annum making a new 
contract value of potentially £7.2m from September 2018 over six years.

6.2.5. The budget for these contracts is generated by school meals income 
which is managed by Cheshire East Catering.  If the service cannot 
generate sufficient income to cover costs then there is a pressure on the 
Council’s base budget. The outturn position in recent years has 



OFFICIAL

highlighted an issue with covering costs as a result of increases in costs 
and limitations on increasing income from pupils. 

6.3. Equality Implications

6.3.1. Procurement arrangements will ensure that a fair and equitable process 
has been undertaken to re-tender this contract.

6.4. Human Resources Implications

6.4.1. The is additional work being undertaken to progress this re-tendering as 
soon as possible to both ensure a long term contract is in place and that 
this delivers high quality and is more cost effective.

6.5. Risk Management Implications

6.5.1. That the current retendering process does not yield a new supplier to the 
standard required. 

6.6. Rural Communities Implications

6.6.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities although sources 
local suppliers may well provide benefits for small business operating on 
rural communities. 

6.7. Implications for Children & Young People 

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people other than 
our desire to maintain the highest Soil  Standard and ensure children 
receive the most nutritious and healthy lunch options every day. 

6.8. Public Health Implications

Much work has been undertaken by the service to work alongside Health 
colleagues to promote healthy lifestyles both at school and in the local 
communities.

7. Ward Members Affected

All.

8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1. In terms of receiving feedback from parents when new provider(s) are 
appointed this will be done via the ‘Fresh’ bulletins, website entries and 
supported by CE communications team.



OFFICIAL

9. Access to Information

9.1. Additional information on this service area can be found via the ‘Fresh’ 
website, see the link below:

http://freshcateringservices.co.uk/

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Mark Bayley

Job Title: Head of Service: Education Infrastructure & Outcomes

Email: mark.bayley@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

http://freshcateringservices.co.uk/
mailto:mark.bayley@cheshireeast.gov.uk




OFFICIAL

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:  11 September 2018

Report Title: Treasury Management Annual Report 2017/18

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Paul Bates, Finance and Communication

Senior Officer: Jan Willis, Interim Executive Director of Corporate Services

1. Report Summary

1.1. The Treasury Management Policy requires an annual report on the 
performance of the Council’s treasury management operation.  This report 
contains details of the activities in 2017/18 for Cheshire East Council.

2. Recommendation

2.1. To receive the Treasury Management Annual Report for 2017/18 as 
detailed in Appendix A. 

3. Reason for Recommendation

3.1. To meet the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in the Public Services and the Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. None

5. Background

5.1. The Treasury Management Strategy for 2017/18 was approved by Council 
on 23rd February 2017.  Progress reports have been provided to Cabinet 
throughout the year as part of the Quarterly Financial and Performance 
Update Reports.

5.2. The Council complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements and 
remained within all of its Prudential Indicators during the year with the 



OFFICIAL

exception of borrowings maturing in under 12 months, further details are 
provided in Annex 1.

5.3. Investment income for 2017/18 is £320,000 in line with the original budget.

 The average lend position (the ’investment cash balance’) including 
managed funds during 2017/18 is £28.2m

 The average annualised interest rate received on in-house investments 
during 2017/18 is 0.37%.

 The average annualised interest rate received on the externally 
managed property fund during 2017/18 is 4.84%.

 The average temporary borrowing position during 2017/18 is £40.2m.
 The average annualised interest rate paid on temporary borrowing 

during 2017/18 is 0.46%

5.4. The Council’s total average interest rate for 2017/18 is 1.55%.  The returns 
continue to exceed our benchmark, the London Inter-bank Bid Rate for 7 
days at 0.48%, and our own performance target of 1.00% (Base Rate + 
0.50%).

Table 1 – Interest Rate Comparison

Comparator Average Rate to 
31/03/2018

Cheshire East 1.55%

LIBID 7 Day Rate 0.31%

LIBID 3 Month rate 0.39%

Base Rate 0.50%

Target Rate 1.00%

5.5. As a result of a change in the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy to 
the use of the annuity method, the Council was able to take a MRP holiday 
and make a saving in the capital financing budget.  Overall there was a 
£4.1m underspend on the capital financing budget of £14m.

5.6. A reduction in the level of cash balances and the need for temporary 
borrowing has arisen from the decision to pay past service pension deficit 
contributions for the next three years in one advance payment of £45m in 
April 2017.  The discount available from early payment more than offsets 
the costs of temporary borrowing.  The forecast benefit over the three year 
period is around £2m which will support mitigation of future service costs as 
appropriate.

5.7. Temporary borrowing is currently being met from other Local Authorities 
which is considerably cheaper than other sources of borrowing.  If the 



OFFICIAL

predicted interest environment changes or the availability of temporary 
borrowing reduces then this strategy will be re-assessed.

5.8. The Council has maintained the £7.5m investment in the CCLA managed 
property fund.  The underlying value of this fund had been devalued 
following the ‘Brexit’ referendum but has since been increasing in value.  
The current value of the units in the fund if sold is £7.9m.  The fund also 
generated income of 4.88% in 2017/18.

5.9. Most other investments currently held are short term for liquidity purposes.  
Following the base rate increase on 2nd November 2017 some of the funds 
which were achieving higher returns than temporary borrowing were no 
longer yielding the same results.  Cash was, therefore, withdrawn to reduce 
borrowing and, from December, to invest £2.5 in a Royal London Enhanced 
Cash Plus Fund.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. As noted in paragraph 4.54 of the Finance Procedure Rules in the 
Council’s Constitution, the Council has adopted CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice for Treasury Management in Local Authorities as this is 
recognised as the accepted standard for this area.  Paragraphs 4.55 – 
4.61 provide further information relating to treasury management 
practice, and the Code itself will have been developed and based upon 
relevant legislation and best practice.  This report is presented to 
Cabinet under rule 4.60.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. Contained within the report.

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. The treasury management activity reported for the period 1st April 2017 
- 31st March 2018 has been carried out in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Policy Statement and Treasury Management Practices 
(TMPs).

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. None

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. None



OFFICIAL

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. The Council operates its treasury management activity within the 
approved Treasury Management Code of Practice and associated 
guidance.

6.6.2. The Council has borrowed and invested substantial sums of money and 
is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested 
funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The successful 
identification, monitoring and control of risk are therefore central to the 
Authority’s treasury management strategy as no treasury management 
activity is without risk.  The aim is to operate in an environment where 
risk is clearly identified and managed.

6.6.3. To reduce the risk that the Council will suffer a loss as a result of its 
treasury management activities down to an acceptable level a number 
of risk management procedures have been put in place.  The 
procedures cover liquidity risk, credit and counterparty risk, re-financing 
risk, legal and regulatory risk, and fraud, error and corruption risk.  
These are referred to within the borrowing and investment strategies, 
prudential indicators and the Treasury Management Practices 
Principles and Schedules.

6.6.4. The arrangements for the identification, monitoring and controlling of 
risk will be reported on a regular basis in accordance with the Strategy.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. None

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People 

6.8.1. None

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. None

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. Not applicable



OFFICIAL

8. Access to Information

8.1. The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by 
contacting the report writer.

9. Contact Information

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name:    Joanne Wilcox

Designation:  Financial Strategy & Reporting Manager

Tel No:    01270 685869

Email:    joanne.wilcox@cheshireeast.gov.uk

mailto:joanne.wilcox@cheshireeast.gov.uk




 

OFFICIAL 

 
 

Appendix A 
 
 
 

 
Treasury Management Annual Report 2017/18 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

OFFICIAL 

1. Introduction  

 
Treasury management is defined as: “The management of the local authority’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.”  

 
 
2. Economic events of 2017/18 
 
Economic background: 2017-18 was characterised by the push-pull from 
expectations of tapering of Quantitative Easing (QE) and the potential for increased 
policy rates in the US and Europe and from geopolitical tensions, which also had an 
impact.  The UK economy showed signs of slowing with latest estimates showing 
GDP, helped by an improving global economy, grew by 1.8% in 2017, the same level 
as in 2016.  This was a far better outcome than the majority of forecasts following the 
EU Referendum in June 2016, but it also reflected the international growth momentum 
generated by the increasingly buoyant US economy and the re-emergence of the 
Eurozone economies.  
 
The inflationary impact of rising import prices, a consequence of the fall in sterling 
associated with the EU referendum result, resulted in year-on-year CPI rising to 3.1% 
in November before falling back to 2.7% in February 2018. Consumers felt the 
squeeze as real average earnings growth, i.e. after inflation, turned negative before 
slowly recovering.  The labour market showed resilience as the unemployment rate 
fell back to 4.3% in January 2018.  The inherent weakness in UK business investment 
was not helped by political uncertainty following the surprise General Election in June 
and by the lack of clarity on Brexit, the UK and the EU only reaching an agreement in 
March 2018 on a transition which will now span Q2 2019 to Q4 2020.  The Withdrawal 
Treaty is yet to be ratified by the UK parliament and those of the other 27 EU member 
states and new international trading arrangements are yet to be negotiated and 
agreed. 
 
The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) increased Bank Rate by 
0.25% in November 2017.  It was significant in that it was the first rate increase in ten 
years, although in essence the MPC reversed its August 2016 cut following the 
referendum result. The February Inflation Report indicated the MPC was keen to 
return inflation to the 2% target over a more conventional (18-24 month) horizon with 
‘gradual’ and ‘limited’ policy tightening.  In March the MPC stopped short of 
committing itself to the timing of the next increase in rates although the minutes of the 
meeting suggested that an increase in May 2018 was highly likely.  In the event, it 
wasn’t until the August 2018 meeting that rates were increased by a further 0.25% to 
0.75%, the highest since March 2009. 
 

In contrast, economic activity in the Eurozone gained momentum and although the 
European Central Bank removed reference to an ‘easing bias’ in its market 
communications and had yet to confirm its QE intention when asset purchases end in 
September 2018, the central bank appeared some way off normalising interest rates.  
The US economy grew steadily and, with its policy objectives of price stability and 
maximising employment remaining on track, the Federal Reserve Open Market 
Committee (FOMC) increased interest rates in December 2017 by 0.25% and again in 
March, raising the policy rate target range to 1.50% - 1.75%.  The Fed made a further 
increase of 0.25% in June 2018 and is expected to deliver two more increases in 
2018.  However, the imposition of tariffs on a broadening range of goods initiated by 



 

OFFICIAL 

the US, which has led to retaliation by China, could escalate into a deep-rooted trade 
war having broader economic consequences including inflation rising rapidly, 
warranting more interest rate hikes.   
 
Financial markets: The increase in Bank Rate resulted in higher money markets 
rates: 1-month, 3-month and 12-month LIBID rates averaged 0.32%, 0.39% and 
0.69% and at 31st March 2018 were 0.43%, 0.72% and 1.12% respectively.  Gilt 
yields displayed significant volatility over the twelve-month period with the change in 
sentiment in the Bank of England’s outlook for interest rates.  
 
The FTSE 100 had a strong finish to calendar 2017, reaching yet another record high 
of 7688, before plummeting below 7000 at the beginning of 2018 in the global equity 
correction and sell-off.   
 
Credit background: In the first quarter of the financial year, UK bank credit default 
swaps (CDS) reached three-year lows on the announcement that the Funding for 
Lending Scheme, which gave banks access to cheaper funding, was being extended 
to 2018. For the rest of the year, CDS prices remained broadly flat.  

The rules for UK banks’ ring-fencing were finalised by the Prudential Regulation 

Authority and banks began the complex implementation process ahead of the 

statutory deadline of 1st January 2019.  As there was some uncertainty surrounding 

which banking entities the Authority would be dealing with once ring-fencing was 

implemented and what the balance sheets of the ring-fenced and non ring-fenced 

entities would actually look like, in May 2017 Arlingclose advised adjusting downwards 

the maturity limit for unsecured investments to a maximum of 6 months.  The rating 

agencies had slightly varying views on the creditworthiness of the re-structured 

entities. 

Barclays was the first to complete its ring-fence restructure over the 2018 Easter 

weekend; wholesale deposits including local authority deposits will henceforth be 

accepted by Barclays Bank plc (branded Barclays International), which is the non ring-

fenced bank.  

Money Market Fund regulation: The new EU regulations for Money Market Funds 
(MMFs) were finally approved and published in July and existing funds will have to be 
compliant by no later than 21st January 2019.  The key features include Low Volatility 
Net Asset Value (LVNAV) Money Market Funds which will be permitted to maintain a 
constant dealing NAV, providing they meet strict new criteria and minimum liquidity 
requirements.  It is expected that most of the short-term MMFs used by the Council 
will convert to the LVNAV structure. 
  
Credit Rating developments: The most significant change was the downgrade by 
Moody’s to the UK sovereign rating in September from Aa1 to Aa2 which resulted in 
subsequent downgrades to sub-sovereign entities including local authorities.  
 
Most UK banks credit ratings were affected by the impending ring-fencing of retail 
activity from investment banking and reviews of rating will continue into 2018 as the 
ring-fencing takes place.   
 
Other developments: In February, Arlingclose advised against lending to 
Northamptonshire County Council after they issued a section 114 notice in the light of 
severe financial challenge and the risk that it would not be in a position to deliver a 
balanced budget.  
 



 

OFFICIAL 

 
Local Authority Regulatory Changes: 
 
Revised CIPFA Codes: CIPFA published revised editions of the Treasury 
Management and Prudential Codes in December 2017.  The required changes have 
been incorporated into Treasury Management Strategies and monitoring reports for 
2018/19. 
 
The 2017 Prudential Code introduces the requirement for a Capital Strategy which 
provides a high-level overview of the long-term context of capital expenditure and 
investment decisions and their associated risks and rewards along with an overview of 
how risk is managed for future financial sustainability.  Where this strategy is 
produced and approved by full Council, the determination of the Treasury 
Management Strategy can be delegated to a committee.  The Code also expands on 
the process and governance issues of capital expenditure and investment decisions.  
 
In the 2017 Treasury Management Code the definition of ‘investments’ has been 
widened to include financial assets as well as non-financial assets held primarily for 
financial returns such as investment property.  These, along with other investments 
made for non-treasury management purposes such as loans supporting service 
outcomes and investments in subsidiaries, must be discussed in the Capital Strategy 
or Investment Strategy.  Additional risks of such investments are to be set out clearly 
and the impact on financial sustainability is be identified and reported.  
 
The Capital Strategy was included as Appendix 10 in the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy and approved by Council on 22nd February 2018.  
 
Further updates including a detailed investment strategy and amendments to the 
Capital Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy, Prudential Indicators and Treasury 
Management Practices made in accordance with the new regulatory framework will be 
included in future reports. 
 
MHCLG Investment Guidance and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP): In 
February 2018 the MHCLG (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government) published revised Guidance on Local Government and Investments and 
Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  Changes to the 
Investment Guidance include a wider definition of investments to include non-financial 
assets held primarily for generating income return and a new category called “loans” 
(e.g. temporary transfer of cash to a third party, joint venture, subsidiary or associate). 
The Guidance introduces the concept of proportionality, proposes additional 
disclosure for borrowing solely to invest and also specifies additional indicators. 
Investment strategies must detail the extent to which service delivery objectives are 
reliant on investment income and a contingency plan should yields on investments fall.  
The definition of prudent MRP has been changed to “put aside revenue over time to 
cover the CFR”; it cannot be a negative charge and can only be zero if the CFR is nil 
or negative.  Guidance on asset lives has been updated, applying to any calculation 
using asset lives.  Any change in MRP policy cannot create an overpayment; the new 
policy must be applied to the outstanding CFR going forward only.  

 

MiFID II: As a result of the second Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID 

II), from 3rd January 2018 local authorities were automatically treated as retail clients 

but could “opt up” to professional client status, providing certain criteria was met which 

includes having an investment balance of at least £10 million and the person(s) 

authorised to make investment decisions on behalf of the authority have at least a 



 

OFFICIAL 

year’s relevant professional experience.  In addition, the regulated financial services 

firms to whom this directive applies have had to assess the person(s) to have the 

expertise, experience and knowledge to make investment decisions and understand 

the risks involved.   
 

The Authority has met the conditions to opt up to professional status and has done so 

with all counterparties that we deal with.  In order to continue trading in treasury bills 

and bonds the Council is required to register for a Legal Entity Identifier number for 

which an annual fee is payable.  As the Council currently has limited scope for holding 

these investments due to reduced investment balances this has not ben applied for. 

 

 
3. Treasury Year End Position 
 
The amount of investments outstanding at 31st March 2018 was £23.8m (compared 

to £29.8m as at 31st March 2017) as follows: 
 
 31/03/17 31/03/18 

 £m £m 

GOVERNMENT   

Central Bedfordshire Council - 6.6 

Surrey Heath District Council - 5.0 

Lancashire County Council 2.0 - 

   

UK BANKS   

Barclays Bank 0.5 0.7 

   

MONEY MARKET FUNDS   

Standard Life 3.9 0.5 

Deutsche 3.5 0.5 

CCLA 0.5 0.5 

Federated Investors   1.7 - 

Aberdeen Asset (formerly Scottish Widows) 1.7 - 

   

MANAGED FUNDS   

Property Funds 7.5 7.5 

Royal London – Enhanced Cash Fund - 2.5 

Federated Investors – Cash Plus Fund (VNAV) 7.5 - 

Deutsche – Ultra Short Fund (VNAV) 1.0 - 

   

TOTAL 29.8 23.8 

 
There have been no significant changes since 2016/17 with the emphasis remaining 
on short term investments to maintain liquidity combined with some longer term 
strategic investments in managed funds to benefit from higher returns and underlying 
growth in value.   
 
The net investment income received in 2017/2018 after allowing for fees and interest 
due to the Growing Places and Local Growth Funds was £0.32m.   
 
The overall average rate of interest on all investments in 2017/18 was 1.55% 
compared to the benchmark 7 day LIBID average return of 0.31% and our own 



 

OFFICIAL 

performance target of 1.00% (Base Rate + 0.50%).  The base rate was increased 
from 0.25% to 0.50% in November 2017.   

 
Investment income forms part of the capital financing budget, which also includes the 
amount charged in respect of the repayment of outstanding debt and the amount of 
interest payable on the Council’s portfolio of long term loans.  The capital financing 
budget for 2017/18 was originally £14m, accounting for 6% of the Council’s net 
revenue budget.   
 

During 2017/18 the Section 151 Officer explored options to revise the 
approach to calculating the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) to release 
revenue funding and mitigate overspending on services.  Following liaison with 
the Council’s treasury management advisors, Arlingclose, the annuity method 
has been used to calculate the Minimum Revenue Provision.  This resulted in 
the ability to take an MRP holiday and realise savings of £6m in 2017/18.  This 
approach was approved by Council at its meeting on 14th December 2017. 
 
We will continue to monitor performance during 2018/19 through the benchmarking 
service provided by the Council’s Treasury Management Advisors, Arlingclose Ltd.   
   
                 

4. Compliance with Treasury Limits 
 
During the financial year the Council has operated within the treasury limits and 
Prudential Indicators set out in the Councils’ Treasury Policy Statement and annual 
Treasury Strategy Statement (see section 7) with the exception of maturity of 
borrowings.  The limit of borrowing due to mature in less than 1 year is 35% of total 
borrowing.  However, the combined effect of long term LOBO loans being included 
within this limit (due to the unlikely possibility that an option may arise where they can 
be repaid) and the current strategy of borrowing on a very short term basis has lead 
to a breach of this limit with 46% of loan value classed as maturing within 1 year. 
 
This will be addressed by amending the Treasury Management Strategy in 2018/19 to 
allow for more short term borrowing.  The risk is that re-financing of maturing 
borrowing will be at higher rates than we could have achieved by longer term 
borrowing taken out now.  Our treasury advisors continue to monitor interest rates 
and plan for future likely scenarios and will advise when we should take longer term 
borrowing. 
 
  
5.  Investment Strategy for 2017/18 
 
Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Authority to invest its 
funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments 
before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Authority’s objective when 
investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, 
minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving 
unsuitably low investment income. 
 
Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are set through the 
Councils’ Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy.  
Different limits apply to counterparties based on a range of credit criteria which 
governs the maximum amount and the maximum maturity periods of any investments.  
This is kept under continual review with institutions added or removed from our list of 



 

OFFICIAL 

counterparties during the year dependent on their qualification according to the credit 
criteria measures. 
 

Investment Objectives 
 
All investments were in sterling.  The general policy objective of the Council was the 
prudent investment of its treasury balances.  The Guidance on Local Government 
Investments in England gives priority to security and liquidity and the Authority’s aim is 
to achieve a yield commensurate with these principles.  

 
Credit Risk 
 
Counterparty credit quality was assessed and monitored with reference to credit 
ratings; credit default swaps; GDP of the country in which the institution operates; the 
country’s net debt as a percentage of GDP; any potential support mechanisms and 
share price.   
 
The maximum amount that can be invested with any one organisation is set in the 
Treasury Management Strategy Report.  For unsecured investments with named UK 
banks and credit rated building societies this has been set at a maximum value of 
£6m.  This limit applies to the banking group that each bank belongs to. 
 
Limits for each Money Market fund have been set at a maximum value of £12m per 
fund.  There is also a maximum that can be invested in all Money Market Funds at any 
one time of £50m in total.  Due to their smaller size, unrated Building Societies have a 
limit of £1m each.   

 
Liquidity  
 
In keeping with the CLG’s Guidance on Investments, the Council maintained a 
sufficient level of liquidity through the use of Money Market Funds, overnight deposits 
and the use of call accounts.  The Councils cash resources have an annual cycle 
dipping in March but with known receipts then due in April.  Following the advance 
payment of £45m relating to the next 3 years pensions deficit funding the Council has 
been required to borrow additional funds in 2017/18.  Any new borrowing has been 
short term (between 1 and 18 months) to take advantage of current low interest rates 
and minimise borrowing costs.  This is likely to continue throughout 2018/19 as 
planned existing long term borrowing is repaid and internal balances reduce.        

 
Yield  
 
As the focus of treasury activity has now switched to borrowing, there is little scope to 
increase yield on balances held primarily for liquidity purposes.  The Council has 
maintained some strategic externally managed investments yielding higher than 
average returns which do carry some risk to the underlying value. 

 
Use of External Fund Managers 
 
In previous years the Council had invested a total of £7.5m in a property fund.  This 
fund is a diversified commercial and industrial property portfolio available to all local 
authorities.  It is suitable where long term funds are available to invest to achieve an 
attractive income and capital growth over time.  The value of this fund has steadily 
increased during 2017/18 and at 31st March 2018 had a realisable value of £7.87m 



 

OFFICIAL 

although any changes in the underlying capital value of the fund will only be realised 
when the investments are sold. 
 
The fund pays dividends on a quarterly basis which have averaged 4.84% return 
during 2017/18 on the initial sum invested.  This is significantly above the rest of the 
Council’s investments, where the average return was 0.37%.  The continued use of 
this fund is being kept under review particularly in light of diminishing cash resources.  
However, as the cost of temporary borrowing to cover short term cash shortfalls was 
only 0.46% it was prudent to maintain this investment as part of our long term 
strategy. 
 
Following the base rate increase on 2nd November 2017 some of the funds which 
were achieving higher returns than temporary borrowing were no longer yielding the 
same results.  Cash was, therefore, withdrawn to reduce borrowing and, from 
December, to invest £2.5m in a Royal London Enhanced Cash Plus Fund.  This fund 
pays dividends every 3 months so is too early to provide actual return information yet 
although it is expected to yield around 1%. 
 
By maintaining strategic investments of £10m, the Council is entitled to be regarded 
as a professional client under the MIFID II regulations.  This allows access to all funds 
and reduces administration on daily treasury activities which would otherwise have 
applied if the Council was regarded as a retail client. 
 
 

6. Borrowing strategy 
 

At the end of 2017/18 the Council had debt outstanding of £169.6m.  Of this £76.9m 
represented loans from the PWLB, £17m represented loans raised from commercial 
banks, £72m represented temporary borrowing repayable in 2018/19 and 2019/20 
whilst £3.7m represents interest free loans from Salix repayable within the next 4 
years.   
 
The Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR) currently exceeds the amounts 
actually borrowed with the shortfall being funded from cash balances.   
 
In accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy the Council has continued to 
finance its capital expenditure through the use of its own existing cash balances rather 
than through the raising of long term loans.  The benefits of this are twofold; firstly by 
reducing the amount of cash balances held by the Council it reduces the credit risk 
and secondly, the interest foregone on the cash balances (or lower interest payable 
on temporary borrowing) used to finance capital expenditure payments was less than 
the amount of interest payable on any new long term loans that would have been 
raised. 
 
 

7. Prudential Indicators 2017/18 
 
The Council can confirm that it has complied with its Prudential Indicators for 
2017/18, with the exception of borrowings maturing under 12 months, 
approved on 23rd February 2017 as part of the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement.  Details can be found in Annex 1. 

 
In compliance with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice this report 
provides members with a summary report of the treasury management activity 



 

OFFICIAL 

during 2017/18. None of the Prudential Indicators have been breached and a 
prudent approach has been taking in relation to investment activity with priority 
being given to security and liquidity over yield.  



 

OFFICIAL 

Annex 1 
 
Prudential Indicators 2017/18 and revisions to 2018/19 – 2020/21 

 

1. Background 
 
1.1 There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local authorities 

to have regard to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 
(the “CIPFA Prudential Code”) when setting and reviewing their Prudential 
Indicators.  

 

2. Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 

 

2.1 This is a key indicator of prudence.  In order to ensure that over the medium term 
debt will only be for a capital purpose, the local authority should ensure that debt 
does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital financing 
requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital 
financing requirement for the current and next two financial years.  
 

2.2 If in any of these years there is a reduction in the capital financing requirement, 
this reduction is ignored in estimating the cumulative increase in the capital 
financing requirement which is used for comparison with gross external debt. 
The Authority had no difficulty meeting this requirement in 2017/18, nor are there 
any difficulties envisaged for future years.  This view takes into account current 
commitments, existing plans and the proposals in the approved budget. 
 

3. Capital Expenditure 
 
3.1 This indicator is set to ensure that the level of proposed capital expenditure 

remains within sustainable limits and, in particular, to consider the impact on 
Council Tax.    

 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/21

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m £m £m £m

Total 88.2         127.1        121.8       77.2         

Source: Cheshire East Finance

Capital 

Expenditure



 

OFFICIAL 

3.2 Capital expenditure has been and will be financed or funded as follows: 
 

 

  
  
 
4. Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 
 
4.1 This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of 

existing and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the 
revenue budget required to meet financing costs.  The definition of financing costs 
is set out in the Prudential Code.  

 

4.2 The ratio is based on costs net of investment income.  
 
  

   
  

5. Actual External Debt 
 
5.1 This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet.  It is the 

closing balance for actual gross borrowing plus other long-term liabilities.  This 
Indicator is measured in a manner consistent for comparison with the Operational 
Boundary and Authorised Limit. 

 

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/21

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Capital 

receipts 0.5 4.3 4.3 10.0

Government 

Grants 30.8 57.3 93.4 19.1         

External 

Contributions 6.7 7.5 9.9 32.4

Revenue 

Contributions 0.3 2.7 0.0 0.0

Total 

Financing 38.2 71.8 107.5 61.5

Prudential 

Borrowing 50.0 55.3 14.3 15.7

Total 

Funding 50.0 55.3 14.3 15.7

Total 

Financing 

and Funding 88.2 127.1 121.8 77.2

Source: Cheshire East Finance

Capital 

Financing 

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/21

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

% % % %

Total 3.77         3.91          4.70         5.36         

Ratio of 

Financing 

Costs to Net 

Revenue 

Stream 



 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
6. Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions 
 
6.1 This is an indicator of affordability that shows the impact of capital investment 

decisions on Council Tax levels.  The incremental impact is calculated by 
comparing the total revenue budget requirement of the current approved capital 
programme with an equivalent calculation of the revenue budget requirement 
arising from the proposed capital programme.  

 

  
  
 
7. Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt 
 
7.1 The Authority has an integrated treasury management strategy and manages its 

treasury position in accordance with its approved strategy and practice.  Overall 
borrowing will therefore arise as a consequence of all the financial transactions of 
the Authority and not just those arising from capital spending reflected in the CFR.  

 
7.2 The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external debt on a gross basis 

(i.e. excluding investments) for the Authority.  It is measured on a daily basis 
against all external debt items on the Balance Sheet (i.e. long and short term 
borrowing, overdrawn bank balances and long term liabilities).  This Prudential 
Indicator separately identifies borrowing from other long term liabilities such as 
finance leases.  It is consistent with the Authority’s existing commitments, its 
proposals for capital expenditure and financing and its approved treasury 
management policy statement and practices.   

 
7.3 The Authorised Limit is the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the 

Local Government Act 2003 (referred to in the legislation as the Affordable Limit). 
 
7.4 The Operational Boundary has been set on the estimate of the most likely, i.e. 

prudent but not worst case scenario with sufficient headroom over and above this 
to allow for unusual cash movements.  

 
7.5 The Operational Boundary links directly to the Authority’s estimates of the CFR 

and estimates of other cash flow requirements.  This indicator is based on the 
same estimates as the Authorised Limit reflecting the most likely, prudent but not 
worst case scenario but without the additional headroom included within the 
Authorised Limit.   

Actual External Debt as at 31/03/2018 £m

Borrowing 170

Other Long-term Liabilities 37

Total 207

Source: Cheshire East Finance

2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/21

Estimate Estimate Estimate

£ £ £Increase in 

Band D 

Council Tax 19.98 10.41 8.30         

Source: Cheshire East Finance

Incremental 

Impact of 

Capital 

Investment 

Decisions



 

OFFICIAL 

 

 
 
 
8. Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 
 
8.1 This indicator demonstrates that the Authority has adopted the principles of best 

practice. 
 

  
 
The Authority has incorporated the changes from the revised CIPFA Code of Practice 
into its treasury policies, procedures and practices. 
 
 
9.  Upper Limits for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest Rate 

Exposure: 
 
9.1 These indicators allow the Authority to manage the extent to which it is exposed 

to changes in interest rates.  This Authority calculates these limits on net 
principal outstanding sums, (i.e. fixed rate debt net of fixed rate investments. 

 
9.2 The upper limit for variable rate exposure has been set to ensure that the 

Authority is not exposed to interest rate rises which could adversely impact on 
the revenue budget.  The limit allows for the use of variable rate debt to offset 
exposure to changes in short-term rates on investments 

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/21

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Authorised 

Limit for 

Borrowing 315 360 365 365

Authorised 

Limit for Other 

Long-Term 

Liabilities 27 26 24 23

Authorised 

Limit for 

External Debt 342 386 389 388

Operational 

Boundary for 

Borrowing 305 350 355 355

Operational 

Boundary for 

Other Long-

Term Liabilities 27 26 24 23

Operational 

Boundary for 

External Debt 332 376 379 378

Source: Cheshire East Finance

Adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management

The Council approved the adoption of the CIPFA Treasury 

Management Code at its Council meeting on 23rd February 2012



 

OFFICIAL 

 

 
  
9.3 The limits above provide the necessary flexibility within which decisions will be 

made for drawing down new loans on a fixed or variable rate basis; the 
decisions will ultimately be determined by expectations of anticipated interest 
rate movements as set out in the Authority’s treasury management strategy.  

 

10. Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate borrowing 
 
10.1 This indicator highlights the existence of any large concentrations of fixed rate 

debt needing to be replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates and is 
designed to protect against excessive exposures to interest rate changes in any 
one period, in particular in the course of the next ten years.   

 
10.2 It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate maturing 

in each period as a percentage of total projected borrowing that is fixed rate. 
The maturity of borrowing is determined by reference to the earliest date on 
which the lender can require payment.  

 
10.3 LOBOs are classified as maturing on the next call date i.e. the earliest date that 

the lender can require repayment.  As all LOBOs can be called within 12 
months, the upper limit for borrowing maturing within 12 months is relatively high 
to allow for the value of LOBOs and any potential short term borrowing that is 
likely to be undertaken in 2018/19.  

  

Maturity structure of fixed rate 
borrowing 

Level as at 
31

st
 March 

2018 

Lower Limit 
for 

2017/2018 

Upper Limit 
for 

2017/2018 

  % % % 

under 12 months 46% 0% 35% 

12 months and within 24 months 15% 0% 25% 

24 months and within 5 years 4% 0% 35% 

5 years and within 10 years 0% 0% 50% 

10 years and within 20 years 15% 0% 100% 

20 years and within 30 years 5% 0% 100% 

30 years and within 40 years 15% 0% 100% 

40 years and within 50 years 0% 0% 100% 

50 years and above 0% 0% 100% 

Source: Cheshire East Finance 

   

2017/2018 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Approved Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate

% % % % %

Upper Limit for Fixed Interest 

Rate Exposure 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Upper Limit for Variable 

Interest Rate Exposure 0% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Source: Cheshire East Finance

Existing level 

(or 

Benchmark 

level) at 

31/03/2018



 

OFFICIAL 

10.4 As described in Section 4 of the report, the limit for borrowing maturing in under 
12 months was breached at the end of 2017/18.  The strategy of keeping 
borrowing short to minimise costs and the increase in borrowing at year end 
contributed to this position.  Although this was a short term breach, rectified 
early in 2018/19 as borrowing was repaid, the limit will be reviewed and, if 
appropriate, be recommended to be increased when the Treasury Management 
Strategy is updated. 

  
11. Credit Risk 
  
11.1 The Authority considers security, liquidity and yield, in that order, when making 

investment decisions. 
 
11.2 Credit ratings remain an important element of assessing credit risk, but they are 

not a sole feature in the Authority’s assessment of counterparty credit risk. 
 
11.3 The Authority also considers alternative assessments of credit strength, and 

information on corporate developments of and market sentiment towards 
counterparties.  The following key tools are used to assess credit risk: 

 Published credit ratings of the financial institution (minimum A- or 

equivalent) and its sovereign (minimum AA+ or equivalent for non-UK 

sovereigns); 

 Sovereign support mechanisms; 

 Credit default swaps (where quoted); 

 Share prices (where available); 

 Economic fundamentals, such as a country’s net debt as a percentage 

of its GDP); 

 Corporate developments, news, articles, markets sentiment and 

momentum; 

 Subjective overlay.  

11.4 The only indicators with prescriptive values remain to be credit ratings.  Other 
indicators of creditworthiness are considered in relative rather than absolute 
terms. 




	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 SEND Reforms Task and Finish Group - Final Report
	SEND Reforms T&F Group - appendix
	SEND Reforms T&F Group - appendix - app A

	7 Garden Village at Handforth - Delivery Strategy
	Garden Village Delivery Strategy, Handforth - app 1
	Garden Village Delivery Strategy, Handforth - app 2

	8 Draft Proposed Local and Sub-Regional Arrangements for Cheshire East in Relation to the Transition from Local Safeguarding Children's Boards to Safeguarding Partners
	Transition from Children's Boards to Safeguarding Partners - app 1
	Transition from Children's Boards to Safeguarding Partners - app 2

	9 European Social Fund Sub-Regional Bid for Intensive Supported Employment Provision
	10 Public Health England: Innovation Fund for Children of Alcohol Dependent Parents
	11 Re-Procurement of Food Contracts for Fresh Produce and Multi-temperature Food (i.e. Frozen and Grocery Products)
	12 Treasury Management Annual Report 2017/18
	Treasury Management Annual Report 2017-18 - appendix


